
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 10 July 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Gareth Bacon AM 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 2 July 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, Head of Assembly Communications; 
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 10 July 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 66) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 15 May 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 

record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 5 to 66 are attached for Members and officers 

only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


 

4 
 

4 Standing Delegation  
 
 

The Committee is asked to note the following standing delegation of authority to 

the Chairman of the Committee, as agreed by the London Assembly at its Plenary 

Meeting on 6 June 2019: 

 To delegate authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and 

working groups to agree, in consultation with the relevant party Group Lead 

Members and Deputy Chairs; 

 

a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 

relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 

programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related project 

plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; and 

 

b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 

GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 

GLA Oversight Committee. 
 
 

5 Summary List of Actions (Pages 67 - 82) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee, and additional correspondence 

received. 
 
 

6 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 83 - 102) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the Chairman under 

delegated Authority, to agree the scope of the Committee’s investigation into tram 

and bus safety. 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 London's Transport Now and in the Future (Pages 103 - 104) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Grace Pollard, grace.pollard@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 6597  

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a)  Note the report as background to putting questions to guests on London’s 

transport now and in the future and note the subsequent discussion; and 

 

(b)  Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the final output for the investigation on London’s transport 

now and in the future. 
 
 

8 London TravelWatch Progress Report (Pages 105 - 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the action taken so far by London TravelWatch to respond to the 

Committee’s comments on its previous draft Business Plan, note the current 

work programme and endorse the direction of travel (as set out at 

Appendix 1 to the report); 

 

(b) Consequent on this, to confirm and release the grant funding for London 

TravelWatch for the second half of this financial year; 

 

(c) Note that following further consultation over the summer, the Committee 

will receive an updated and refocused Business Plan for the period 2020 to 

2024 in the autumn, to be considered as part of the 2020/21 budget process; 

and 

  

(d) Note that subsequent to this, the Memorandum of Understanding between 

the Greater London Authority and London TravelWatch will be reviewed and 

updated to ensure that current expectations are fully covered. 
 
 

9 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 115 - 118) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2850 

 

The Committee is recommended to note its work programme. 
 
 

mailto:grace.pollard@london.gov.uk
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 11 September 2019 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 15 May 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 

Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 

Present: 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair) 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 

Gareth Bacon AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 

Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 

Keith Prince AM 

Caroline Russell AM 

Navin Shah AM 

 

 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Joanne McCartney AM.  Steve O’Connell AM 

attended the meeting as an observer. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Committee, as agreed by 

the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019, be noted: 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair) 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 

Gareth Bacon AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 

Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Keith Prince AM  

Caroline Russell AM 

Navin Shah AM 

 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 
 

That the Committee’s terms of reference, which were agreed by the Annual 

Meeting of the London Assembly at its meeting on 2 May 2019, be noted as 

follows: 

 

1. To examine and report from time to time on –  

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor, Transport for London, and 

the other Functional Bodies where appropriate; and 

 matters of importance to Greater London 

 

as they relate to transport in London. 

 

2. To examine and report to the Assembly from time to time on the Mayor’s 

Transport Strategy, in particular its implementation and revision. 

 

3. To take into account in its deliberations the cross-cutting themes of: the health 

of persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable development in 

the United Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of opportunity. 

 

4. To oversee the work of the London Transport Users’ Committee (operating as 

London TravelWatch), to receive regular monitoring reports from that 

Committee and support its consultative programme.  To negotiate with the 

Mayor for the annual budget for the London Transport Users’ Committee and 

to recommend to the Assembly, through the GLA Oversight Committee, an 

annual budget for the London Transport Users’ Committee. 

 

5. To discharge the responsibilities and functions of the Assembly in respect of 

the London Transport Users’ Committee under the GLA Act 1999, in particular 

sections 247 – 252 and Schedules 18 and 19. 

 

6. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes 

when within its terms of reference. 

 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

5   Standing Delegations (Item 5) 

 

5.1 Resolved: 

 

That the following standing delegations, as agreed by the London Assembly at its 

Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019, be noted: 

 

At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 

authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 

the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the 

lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 

consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 

consultation at a committee meeting. 

 

On 21 July 2005, the Transport Committee resolved:  

 

To delegate the Chair of the Transport Committee, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair, to take action in accordance with the functions of the Assembly listed in 

respect of the London Transport Users Committee under the GLA Act 1999. 

 

On 9 June 2005, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 

Future requests by LTUC1 office holders to take on directorships/offices in other 

organisations be delegated to the Chair of the Transport Committee in consultation 

with the Party Spokespeople on the Transport Committee and following advice 

from the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

[It is a requirement of the Terms and Conditions of Membership of LTUC that the 

appointee will “seek the London Assembly’s approval if he/she wishes to assume 

any further directorships or offices at any time during the period of their 

appointment”]” 

 

On 14 July 2011, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and 

party Group Lead Members, to approve the issue of directions or appropriate 

guidance to the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch. 

 
 

                                                 
1 London TravelWatch is the operating title of the London Transport Users Committee 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 25 April 2019 

be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2 Resolved: 

 

That the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, be noted. 

 
 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

9   Tram and Bus Safety in London (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on tram safety to the following invited guests: 

 Jill Collis, Director of Health Safety and Environment, Transport for London (TfL); 

 Jon Fox, Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL; 

 Finn Brennan, District Organiser, ASLEF;  

 Adrian Jones, First Group Safety Director; and 

 Jackie Townsend, Managing Director – Tram Operations Ltd. 

 

9.2 A transcript of the discussion on tram safety is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

9.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following further 

information in writing: 

 List of Members of the Sandilands Incident Review Board;  

 Work done by TfL on risk associated with road users, in particular cyclists, and tram 

tracks; and 

 Detail on the relationship between speed, use of the hazard brake and the effect on 

passengers in trams. 

 

9.4 The Committee then put questions on bus safety to the following invited guests: 

 Claire Mann, Director of Bus Operations, TfL; 

 Stuart Reid, TfL, Interim Director of Vision Zero; 

 Sinisa Cica, Unite; 

 Tony Wilson, Managing Director, Abellio; and 

 Tom Kearney, Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance 

Campaign. 

 

9.5 A transcript of the discussion on tram safety is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

9.6 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following further 

information in writing: 

 Safety Performance Indicator data for the bus network over the preceding 12 months; 

 What work has been done by TfL to assess whether bus driver toilets being added to 

those 42 bus routes that did not previously had one, could be made available to 

members of the public who were disabled; 

 A list of areas identified for improvement in accident reporting; and  

 Progress made towards increasing the remit of the Victims’ Commissioner to include 

victims of road crimes and collisions. 

 

9.7 Resolved: 

 

 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
10   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

10.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme for 2019/20 Assembly year as set out in the 

report; be agreed; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for an investigation into London’s transport now and in the future. 

 
 
11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 

11.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday, 10 July 2019 at 10.00am, 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
12   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 

12.1 There was no other business. 

 
 

Page 11



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 

 
 

13   Close of Meeting 

 

13.1 The meeting ended at 1.10pm. 
 

 

 
    

Chair   Date 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

Page 12



 

  
 

 
Appendix 1 

 

London Assembly Transport Committee – Wednesday, 15 May 2019 
Transcript of Item 9 – Tram and Bus Safety in London – Panel 1 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Welcome to our guests this morning.  Our first session is going to be 

looking at tram safety.  I would like to introduce and welcome our guests.  We have Jill Collis from Transport 

for London (TfL), Director of Health, Safety and Environment.  We have Jon Fox from TfL, Director of Rail and 

Sponsored Services.  We have Finn Brennan from the Associated Society of Locomotive Steam Enginemen and 

Firemen (ASLEF) union.  We also have Adrian Jones, Safety Director, First Group, and Jackie Townsend from 

Tram Operations Ltd (TOL), Managing Director.  Welcome to all of you this morning. 

 

Our first session will be looking at tram safety.  We had the really sad incident with the Croydon tram 

derailment in 2017 when, unfortunately, seven people lost their lives.   Following that, there was the Rail 

Accident Investigation Branch (RAIB) investigation, which had a number of recommendations.  TfL also 

conducted its own investigation and also had a set of recommendations.  We are going to take some questions 

and look at some of those. 

 

As Chair, I am going to use my position and start on the questioning of that and ask, on the back of those 

recommendations, if anyone would like to give us an update and what you felt about the recommendations to 

date and if we are going in the right direction. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Shall I do that?  I would like to start by putting 

on record that our thoughts do remain with all of those affected by this incident, and to reiterate that not a 

day goes past really without something coming across our desks in order to try to address the incident and the 

causes and the things we are doing about it, and to restate our determination to make sure that everything 

that we possibly can do is done to address these issues.  That was a statement at the start. 

 

We have had a number of reviews of all of the activities that we have undertaken.  As you rightly pointed out, 

there were a number of investigations that threw up a number of recommendations.  It is fair to say that the 

primary one is the RAIB one, which has 15 recommendations. 

 

Just to summarise how we have progressed on those, if you take those 15, two of them are addressed at the 

industry more generally and can say something about those, but of the 13 that are more specific we have 

already completed seven of those.  Of the six that remain, all of those have started and many of them are 

closing towards completion.  Our target is that, when it comes to Croydon, we will have closed those up by the 

end of this year or thereabouts.  We have a programme for all of those actions and activities underway.  Some 

of them have been accepted by the regulator as closed out and we update them regularly. 

 

Most recently, we can tell you that among the recommendations we have concluded an approach and an 

implementation on the glazing on trams.  One of the recommendations was around how strong the glazing is, 

what it does and what its purpose is.  We have completed our work on that.  We have applied a much thicker 

film to the glazing on those trams and that work is now completed. 

 

Also, I am sure you will be more than aware of the over-speeding device that it has been suggested to us that 

we have.  We are now in contract with a provider of that.  We are in the design phase, working out how that 

Page 13



 

  
 

will work, and there is a programme of activity that sees that on-tram completion by the end of this calendar 

year. 

 

Those are the highlights of the latest activities that we have done.  It is well documented the work over the 

two and a half years now that we have done on signage, on lineside works, on the in-cab drivers’ protection 

device and a number of other things that we have undertaken.  I am happy to take any questions on those, but 

I would like to summarise and say that we are appreciative of everyone’s support to get this far, but we are 

quite well advanced on all of those recommendations.  As Simon French [Chief Inspector of Rail Accidents, 

RAIB] said in his annual report this past year, he recognises the determination that we have to complete them 

all.  He has commended us in our joint efforts. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  There is good progress on that. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  I would certainly be a lot less complacent than Jon [Fox] about 

how much progress has been made.  For me, the key recommendations as a representative of the drivers, the 

people literally at the front end, are recommendations 11 and 12 made by the RAIB, which talk about issues 

around fatigue and also, crucially, a just culture. 

 

In any safety-critical environment, the culture is the most important thing.  That is not just a matter of having 

the correct policies and the correct forms that are ticked in the right places.  It is people being confident and 

able to say, whenever an incident happens or a problem happens, “This is something we can learn from”.  If, 

for example, a driver makes a mistake and does something that is potentially dangerous, you need a culture 

where that driver can go to their manager and say, “Guvnor, I made a mistake today and something bad could 

have happened because of that”. 

 

If you look at the Sandilands incident, there was a precursory incident two weeks beforehand.  The culture did 

not exist where the driver involved was able to go to a manager and say, “Something bad could have happened 

there”, because the culture that existed was that drivers felt that if they made a mistake they were going to be 

blamed and they were going to be disciplined.  We had a case not long before, about a year and a half before, 

where a driver had over-sped and had an accident.  He had not just been disciplined and sacked by the 

company but had been prosecuted.  That fostered a culture where, if people made a mistake, they wanted to 

hide that mistake.  If a culture like that exists in a safety-critical organisation, accidents are bound to follow.  

The key thing to guarantee safety for the future on Tramlink has to be that change in culture. 

 

I do appreciate there have been some changes in senior management at Tramlink, but that has yet to filter 

down to the front line.  The drivers booking on in the mornings are still seeing the same managers who still 

treat them in the same way. 

 

Equally, with the recommendations on fatigue, some progress has been made on fatigue and we are discussing 

new rosters with the company at the moment and making some good progress on that, but I would argue that 

all the company has done is the very minimum asked for in the recommendations. 

 

I will give you a very practical example and, again, the in-cab Guardian Device comes into this.  All that device 

really has done is to spend a lot of money telling us something we already know because guess what?  If 

someone has to get up at 3 o’clock in the morning to go to work, travel in to work, spend four and a half hours 

driving, have something to eat inside half an hour or so, they are going to start to feel sleepy as they digest the 

food.  I am sure any of you have had the same experience driving a car up a motorway, etc.  If you were driving 

Page 14



 

  
 

a car, the advice would be to pull into a service station, have a nap, etc.  Of course you cannot do that if you 

are in charge of a vehicle with people behind you. 

 

I do not believe the culture exists where someone can come into work and say, “Actually, last night my child 

had a toothache.  The neighbours were having a row.  I did not get a proper night’s sleep.  I really do not feel 

well enough to do my duty this morning because I am tired”, and be treated with sympathy and support.  

Actually, the most likely reaction is going to be, “Are you going sick, then?”  Unless we have a culture where 

people can be completely open and honest and feel supported, we are not going to crack the issue of safety. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Just on fatigue, the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) referenced really good 

practice guidance.  Are you saying that TOL is not adopting that and taking some of that on board? 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  TOL has not done anything like enough yet to change the 

culture.  I accept that cultural change takes time and new management has been brought in at the senior level, 

but a hell of a lot more has to happen to change that culture.  TOL are clearly aware that there are a lot of eyes 

on them and are taking the steps that they are being pushed to take and we are making some progress, but 

there is a long way to go to build that just culture with proper guarantees on safety. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Adrian? 

 

Adrian Jones (Safety Director, First Group):  Can I answer that, alongside with Jackie as well?  Can I 

firstly, before I start, reinforce what Jon [Fox] said earlier on?  Everybody at First Group was deeply shocked 

and saddened by the tragic incident and we want to reiterate our condolences to all the victims, their families 

and friends, and anyone injured or affected by the incident.  We are committed to work with TfL and work 

tirelessly to adopt the recommendations from the RAIB investigation.  Certainly in the areas specifically for TOL 

we have made extremely good progress. 

 

I do not disagree with Finn [Brennan] that a just culture is extremely important.  We know that.  Across First 

Group, safety is a personal core value for us all and we do adopt a real culture of safety. 

 

If I could invite Jackie to speak bit more specifically about what has been done to promote particularly 

reporting of incidents and people feeling able to report incidents, that may be helpful. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  As you are aware, Finn and I work very 

closely with each other, as we do with Unite.  For anybody who has done any investigation into a just culture, 

it takes about three years to actually embed that into any company and so we are at the start of all that. 

 

What we have agreed with the trade unions is an error and violation policy because Finn is right.  We had four 

surveys done on our drivers by the British Transport Police, the ORR, the RAIB and also our own staff 

satisfaction survey and our drivers were very critical of the environment in which they worked.  You have to 

accept all of those things from the survey. 

 

What we have done is that we have done an error and violation policy so that anybody who is involved in any 

error - and that is any operational incident, anything - is done on a development process.  We develop people 

and we give them competency training.  That is how it is dealt with.  There is no discipline at all in TOL on 

anybody who makes an error. 

 

Page 15



 

  
 

Unfortunately, if they are involved in a violation where they have purposely done something, that is a violation 

for which they will be disciplined.  That is much easier for the drivers because they now understand what the 

difference is - most of them - and it also helps my managers, who understand the difference because that was 

the problem.  The perception was that if a manager liked you, you got off, and if he did not like you, you did 

not.  Whether that was true or not true, perception becomes reality.  We have investigated that. 

 

We did some work about fatigue and if people are fatigued, but we have had a few drivers who have rung in 

and said, “I have had a really bad night”, and we have accepted that they are not coming in and they are still 

paid.  It is not as though we do not pay them, but very few do that.  Our managers said, “If you allow them to 

ring in and say that they are tired, they will all ring in”.  I have to tell you that people do not do that, and so we 

have all of that. 

 

We are on a journey, but we have started well.  Our communication is much better with the staff now.  We 

have a monthly communication with them called The Loop, which tells them all about safety and the targets 

against what incidents we have had for that period.  It tells them about our performance.  It tells them about 

any incidents and what is happening within TOL.  Also, we have a magazine that comes out every three 

months, we have safety alerts, all of those things operating, which we share with all of our staff, not just with 

the drivers but with everybody else who works at TOL.  That is becoming more effective.  We have our Critical 

Incident Reporting System (CIRS), where they can report any incident, and also the First Group safety report, 

which is all anonymous. 

 

For any driver who has any incidents, especially if we are talking about fatigue, we have introduced a machine 

on this tram that alerts any driver for microsleeps, drowsiness, distraction and over-speeds of over 70 

kilometres an hour.  From that information we are able to draw some really important information about time 

of day, driver, duties, location where these fatigue incidents happen, which is why when we were introducing 

these new rosters, I believe it was the first time in this country that rosters had been based on the information 

from our own drivers about fatigue.  We have incorporated all of those things: the ORR best practice, the 

location of these, the time of day. 

 

One of the things about the rosters is that you need a break within three hours of booking on because, as Finn 

says, if you come on at 3 o’clock in the morning, you probably have not had breakfast and you probably have 

not had a drink.  What do you think is going to happen?  We are incorporating all of those things. 

 

I am quite excited about the work that we are doing at TOL because it is innovative.  We are sharing that 

across industries - bus, trucks, national rail - and the information we are getting, but we need the data to be 

able to work with this.  We have been doing this for about a year to get the correct data to be able to manage 

these things.  We are beginning to get more and more data that enables us.  If any driver has any issue, we 

work with them on a plan individually.  We work with our occupational health.  We have actually identified a 

couple of drivers who have medical conditions.  We have had two with sleep apnoea, which they did not know 

they had.  Another driver had an underactive thyroid but she had not been for a blood test and, basically, this 

identified that she had a problem.  She has now gone back and upped her dose of her thyroxine.  It is not a 

punitive thing.  We never discipline anybody for any of this.  This is about helping them to live their lives. 

 

One of the things that we are planning to do in the next few weeks is to have an open day with all of the 

families of our tram people to show them the work we are doing with fatigue and also to explain to them about 

their circadian rhythms.  People are either owls or early birds and your body just has to go with all of that.  It is 

an area with fatigue that the transport industry has not done vigilantly before.  It is very new.  There is not a 

lot out there and we are really making inroads into what it means. 

Page 16



 

  
 

 

Of course the other issue is that people cannot differentiate between tiredness and fatigue.  Fatigue is a 

chronic issue.  It is not being tired.  If you are on a shift work, you are prone to chronic fatigue and those are 

the issues that we are looking at.  I am very happy for the Assembly to come to TOL to see what we are doing 

and the work that we are doing if you wish to. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That is great and we will definitely take you up on that offer.  Before I bring 

in my colleague Assembly Member Bailey, one of the things I wanted to add was that it is really tragic what 

happened with the derailment and the deaths. Coming back to some of the points that Finn mentioned, there 

is this culture which in essence is something that would have been happening over the years. 

 

Had management been responding to that and taking note of some of those concerns coming forward?  It is 

really great that there is action and a programme in place agreed with the staff to address that going forward, 

but looking back, were there things that maybe could have been signalling points and flashpoints that you 

could have picked up maybe earlier? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  I was not the Managing Director of TOL at 

that point and so I cannot really say that.  I was brought in after the incident. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That is fine. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  All I am saying about it is that all I have 

done is to build on what was already there.  Yes, there were things, if we look at anything, that were not 

right -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Maybe Adrian might be able to come in on that point. 

 

Adrian Jones (Safety Director, First Group):  I became Safety Director in 2015 and so that was fairly early.  

There were not any indicators that would certainly come up at group level that would highlight a cultural issue 

at TOL. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  If I might say in terms of the wider transport 

industry and the so-called just culture of interaction, listening and working out the best outcomes, it is an 

immature place for the whole of the industry.  What we have learned here is how to do that a bit better.  Finn 

[Brennan] might say, “You should have done it”, and you might say, “You should have done it”, but nobody is 

really world-class at this at the moment.  We are in this learning together.  That is a good place to be and we 

need to share that a bit more because, whether it is national rail, international rail or international transport, 

there is not a lot of best practice in this area. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  The airline and nuclear industries, clearly, are leaders in this.  In 

the rail and transport industries and in Tramlink and a slightly different place when Jill [Collis] and I were 

working on the London Underground, there is massive resistance by many layers of managers to it because 

many managers at a lower level have come through and bought up the culture where they see the role as 

disciplining the people below them rather than leading them.  There is huge work to be done but the impetus 

for that cultural change has to come from the top. 

 

I do find myself in an almost symbolic position here in between TfL and First Group because of course one of 

the other issues involved in the safety management down there is the interaction between the two parts.  

Page 17



 

  
 

There was a classic example sometime last year when new signage appeared on the system put up by TfL, 

which was quite a surprise to the people working on the Tramlink system at the time because they simply were 

not communicating properly with each other.  I hope that has improved but there is a long way to go. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I want to focus in on this area of culture because of course you seem to have had this 

system changed but, if I follow Jackie’s [Townsend] comment, it takes three years for these things to come 

through.  That means we are supposedly going to be in three years of poor culture.  Is there anything you have 

to speed up that culture? 

 

If I go to Finn’s point, it seems like you are very actively changing the culture for the drivers, which is correct, 

but what are you doing for the management?  How are you affecting their training and affecting the collective 

responsibility around safety?  Correct me if I am wrong, but it would seem that traditionally the safety response 

has been for the driver.  Is it now seen as for everybody else?  Is that something you are working on? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  One of the things that came out of a 

couple of the surveys was the relationship between the driver and the controller.  That was not a great 

relationship.  What we have done is the drivers no longer report to the controllers.  They report to the duty 

managers, who are above the controllers.  What we are doing is we are developing each of our managers.  TOL 

is very small.  There is only 236 people and do not think I have hundreds of managers.  Every one of them is on 

a development course about leadership, about managing, about coaching, about mentoring and how to talk to 

each other.  I have to say that I occasionally experience some very strange conversations between the 

controller and the driver both really talking at each other and not to each other.  It is quite good that they are 

taped calls so that you can say, “Who do you think this is?” 

 

We are developing how to investigate operational incidents and what questions to ask.  We now have more 

assessors who will develop these drivers.  Every development programme is bespoke to that driver and the 

managers are part of that development plan.  Each duty manager has a group of their own drivers so that they 

are responsible for that group of people, for their welfare and also for developing them going forward.  

Everybody has a personal development plan. 

 

What we are doing is we are not just putting everything on the drivers.  We are saying to our managers, “You 

need to start managing.  This is not about disciplining people”.  I have to say that we discipline very few people 

in any year, but if they have been involved in a violation, absolutely that needs to happen.  Our managers also 

need to understand why things happen to people.  As Finn said, the culture before was, “Actually, I am not 

going to believe you”, but we are teaching them how to do that.  

 

We also have Be Safe in First Group as well and that is about having conversations with people and that really 

works well.  Everybody knows that safety is at the heart of everything that we do within First Group.  The 

whole thing with a just culture is that you have to change everybody and so we are changing everybody within 

TOL. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Adrian, quickly? 

 

Adrian Jones (Safety Director, First Group):  Jackie there mentioned our Be Safe programme.  Aside from 

the bespoke training that has been done with the local managers and supervisors, we have had a programme 

that was rolled out across the last three years across the whole of First Group, all five divisions.  We call it Be 

Safe.  This is all about changing safety behaviours through positive reinforcement. 

 

Page 18



 

  
 

We took some science from some colleagues in the United States and we trained every management supervisor 

across First Group in how to have what we call ‘touchpoint conversations’. which are really about positive 

reinforcement of good safety behaviours.  It is a positive interaction and not an historically negative 

interaction.  We do not go out to find people doing things wrong.  We go out to find people doing things right.  

We try to have like a four-to-one ratio of positive to challenging conversations.  Over time, that is going to 

change completely our safety culture right across the group and TOL is an integral part of that. 

 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I have a few things, unfortunately.  The first one is to Jill, if I may.  Are you aware of any 

dissatisfaction from any current or former TfL Board member on how TfL dealt with the investigations into the 

derailment? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  No, not about how we dealt with the 

investigations.  We had our own independent investigation undertaken by SNC-Lavalin, which we shared with 

the Safety Panel, which is a subcommittee the TfL Board.  We fully supported both RAIB and ORR’s 

investigations. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Are you aware of the letter that Michael Liebreich [former member, TfL Board] wrote to 

Howard Carter [General Counsel, TfL] on 13 July 2017 expressing concerns that Leon Daniels [former 

Managing Director of Surface Transport, TfL] was the person who reported on Sandilands, given his 

background as a Director of Tram Operations for over 10 years? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  I believe there was correspondence 

between Michael Liebreich, the Chair [of the Safety Panel], and Howard Carter, but the individual content of 

that and the response to that going forward is -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  It may be helpful to clarify that we received an amount of correspondence 

from Michael prior to this meeting, which he did indicate to Mike Brown [MVO, Commissioner, TfL] that he 

was going to share with us.  We are happy to share that with you later.  Maybe you could check on that. 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Yes.  I am aware that Michael wrote about 

the fatigue report.  There was correspondence between TfL and Michael as Chair of the Panel and as a former 

Board member about the fatigue audit we undertook. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Do you know who is on the Sandilands Incident Review Board? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Yes.  It is a Review Board that is chaired by 

our General Counsel and was set up to look at our claims, how we manage claims and progress them through 

and other legal issues. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Would you be able to share with us the full members of the board?  Not right now, 

obviously. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  If you can provide that to us, that would be helpful, please.  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I have a couple more questions, if you do not mind, Chair.  On 26 June 2017 the Safety, 

Sustainability and Human Resources  Panel (SSHRP) was told by Leon Daniels that the fatigue audit was 

Page 19



 

  
 

“satisfactory and did not give rise to any concerns”.  TfL later classified the audit as “requires improvement” 

and the RAIB stated that: 

 

“The conclusions of the TfL audit are consistent with its own finding that, at the time of the accident, 

TOL’s management of fatigue risk was not in line with published industry practice, and that there was 

significant scope for improvement.” 

 

How does that square with Leon’s comments that the audit was “satisfactory and did not give rise to any 

concerns”? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  When Leon was commenting, it was a 

progress update.  The audit investigation work had just been undertaken.  The audit itself had not been 

concluded and so it was more of a progress statement of where we were at the time in the audit.  It was later 

concluded after we had looked at the fieldwork and the results of what that entailed. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You are saying that it is a matter of timescales and that when Leon reported, you had not 

had the full report.  Is that what you are saying? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Yes, we had not had the full report with 

Leon reported. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can you tell me when you did get the full report? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  The full report was issued on 

15 September [2017], I think.  The fieldwork was done in June that year.  The fieldwork had been finished very 

close to when the Panel meeting was. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  He was reporting on the fieldwork, yes? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  It was a general update on where we were 

at the time and the final audit report had not been concluded at that stage.  There was more work to be done. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Sure.  That is a fair comment, but is it not a little strange though that the report changes 

significantly between the fieldwork and the conclusions?  Would you not have thought that the fieldwork 

might have highlighted some of these concerns in order to give you the conclusions you got to? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  I cannot comment on the specifics of what 

Leon was thinking at the time, but the fieldwork would have flagged up issues and then we would look at them 

against the criteria of the audit and the ORR’s findings to come to firmer conclusions, as well as looking at 

whether First Group is complying with its own procedures as well.  It was an ongoing process and we were 

getting more evidence as it went on. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Your report was separate from the RAIB report, was it not? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  The audit report, yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Finally, Chair, this is to everybody on the panel, really, but requires only a very short 

answer.  Do you believe that TfL’s approach to the Sandilands investigation has been transparent and 

Page 20



 

  
 

satisfactory throughout this process?  Are there any significant questions to answer?  Jackie, do you want to 

kick off on that one? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  The whole thing about Sandilands - and I 

do not want specifically to go into the fatigue audit and the whole thing about tram and the whole tram 

industry, not just Croydon, which is why some of those recommendations have gone to the wider UK tram 

industry - was based on line-of-sight for drivers and so the driver was always going to make the right decision 

because would drive in line-of-sight.  Since Sandilands, the UK tram industry has reviewed its position as well 

as the rail regulator, which also has a recommendation out of the RAIB report.  As an industry we are relooking 

at the whole of how tram works and in fact we have also been working with Europe as well about the tram 

industry.  The tram itself has always been a very basic vehicle and that is why TfL, working with us, are adding 

extra things onto the tram to aid the driver like the emergency brake.  We are introducing iTram, the glass 

[with film] and all of those things, which were never introduced within the tram.  Other tram companies within 

the UK are doing those things.  The fact that we also reduced the speed from 80 to 70 kilometres an hour is 

not just Croydon.  It is within the whole of the UK industry. 

 

After any of these tragic events, it is a real shame that we have to learn from them, and unfortunately in any of 

these industries that we have we all learn a very hard lesson from these things.  Tram is learning from this.  As 

the MD of TOL, everything in my power will be there so that we never, ever have another Sandilands. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That is good to hear. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  That is why we are doing all the things 

that we are doing.  I cannot say that we did everything right beforehand, but we have learned, and we are 

rectifying those and we are working together. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Just to remind you of the question, although I appreciate the answer, the question was: do 

you feel that TfL’s approach to the Sandilands investigation has been transparent and satisfactory throughout? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Perhaps if I can -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  No, let us go through. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  With TfL, we had lots of external people 

doing investigations, the RAIB, the ORR, the British Transport Police.  TfL with us had been co-operating with 

those people and TfL did its own investigation because it owned the contract on the tram.  I believe that TfL 

could not have been doing anything differently to what it has done in the circumstances. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is fine.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Adrian? 

 

Adrian Jones (Safety Director, First Group):  I can only echo what Jackie said.  Since the incident, there 

have been thorough investigations.  We have worked very closely with TfL and are committed to implementing 

all the recommendations from the RAIB report.  In terms of relationships between us and TfL, they have 

certainly been satisfactory from our point of view. 

 

Page 21



 

  
 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  Mind you, some of the public commentary on the investigation 

has rather got lost in the weeds and the details of whichever report and the fatigue audit, etc, and we have lost 

sight of the bigger picture.  Seven people died that day.  The driver of that tram has been arrested but still to 

this day not charged.  It is a massive tragedy for all of the people involved.  I can understand people wanting to 

peer into when a fatigue audit happened, etc.  I am not sure it takes us much further on.  We do have to look 

at the bigger picture and I hope we get a chance to talk more about some of the things that have been done 

and still need to be done. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  I was only going to add that it feels like there is 

a lot of scrutiny for us from the inside and, if we try to do anything other than being transparent, that 

information will come out eventually.  We were talking about culture earlier.  In our mindset, we present what 

we can, do the best that we can and present the information that is available to us in the best way that we can.  

There is no culture that I can see of not trying to be transparent.  That is a personal observation from how it 

has felt through the last two and a half years of this process. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Chair, I reiterate all that has been said and 

say as well that we have also been transparent when we have it wrong as well and explained why and tried to 

rectify it was soon as we could.  We have been transparent throughout. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Just briefly, again, I would like to register my thanks to the Committee and also to you 

for today’s meeting and your ongoing work after an incident that was so tragic to Croydon and affected some 

people, particularly in the New Addington community. 

 

This is a point that is going to be asked a bit further later, but it is this big picture point that I wanted to touch 

on about fatigue.  I understand completely there are recommendations around fatigue, a fatigue report and a 

fatigue audit.  It is understood that the drivers and people generally are owls or early birds and getting up at 

2.30am in New Addington to go to work and to be on the tram and to have breakfast first now and that sort of 

stuff. 

 

However, I would be interested at some stage during this morning, perhaps now, to touch upon something 

more radical about fatigue and about expectations on people, people being expected to drive at 3 or 4 o’clock 

in the morning.  We can make recommendations and we can address it and we support the culture and that 

whole thing, and I believe there is a willingness across all parties, but it might be a more fundamental thing 

that might have cost that will change the way of working in this industry and other industries whereby people 

are not expected to work those sorts of hours.  That might mean re-rostering.  It might mean more staff.  It is 

that big picture thing. 

 

It may well be that we might be interested in the recommendations because there are 15 recommendations, 

there are eight TfL recommendations and there are other reports.  This is good stuff, but there might be 

something more fundamental that we could do to avoid another tragedy.  It is that bigger picture thing that 

Finn [Brennan] touched upon, particularly on the tiredness aspect. 

 

Could anybody put any other ideas that we could have that are even bigger than the things that we touched 

upon?  Finn is bursting to come in. 

 

Page 22



 

  
 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  I am very glad you asked that question, Steve, because it is 

critical.  I gave the example earlier on of someone waking up at 3 o’clock in the morning to come into work.  

For instance, for TfL and London Underground, the earliest time a driver starts is 4.45am in the morning.  That 

is still too early, but we have drivers who work shifts through the night to take out the earliest trains in the 

morning and put the latest ones to bed.  That has a resource implication.  It does mean that you need to have 

more staff because they are doing less productive work during the night but you are avoiding having people 

starting at, to be frank, silly o’clock in the morning. 

 

They thing is - and you pointed to it, Steve - these are human beings, not robots.  People do have a personal 

responsibility.  I absolutely accept that.  If you throw all the responsibility back at individuals and say, “You 

have to get up at 3 o’clock and so you have good bed at 7 o’clock the night before”, I cannot get my seven-

year-old to go to bed at 8 o’clock on a summer night!  The idea that an adult is going to do that on a regular 

basis is just not feasible with the best will in the world.  Any human being has other responsibilities.  They have 

to put their own kids to bed, not go to bed themselves at 7 o’clock every evening.  It is right to say that people 

have a personal responsibility to report when they are tired, etc, but you have to have a system in place that 

recognises that human beings are doing this work. 

 

Equally, if someone is working late shifts, is the expectation that they are going to come home and sleep 

through all the rest of the next day?  What happens when the road is getting dug up outside or the kids wake 

up or the Sainsbury delivery has to be done and the dog has to be taken to the vet, all those responsibilities 

that people have.  We have to recognise that it is human beings, not robots. 

 

That does have a resource implication and we all want an efficient system, but unless you have enough staff in 

place -- and then this of course comes back to TfL and First Group running a very tight budget.  They are paid 

by TfL.  If they have to have more drivers, they are going to say, “We want TfL to pay”.  TfL is going to point 

out that George Osborne [former Chancellor of the Exchequer] took all of the money away from TfL.  It is a 

real problem that has to be dealt with. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Just briefly, could we have a brief response from either Adrian [Jones] or Jon on that 

big-picture piece around resource, drivers, numbers, rosters, etc? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  I take Finn’s point about night turn staff but 

inevitably you drive a different challenge if you have all-night turn staff.  It is not necessarily popular to 

tomorrow go back to Finn and say, “Fine.  We are not doing early turn anymore.  Everyone is working nights.  

Are you happy with that?”  There will be, equally, challenges around forcing people to work nights.  Then you 

get into the question of how early is too early.  If 3.20am is too early, what about 4 o’clock?  What about 5 

o’clock then?  Let us say 5.30am.  By the time you get to work it is 6.30am.  The first train out is 7 o’clock and 

therefore we are not running any services until 7 o’clock in the morning?  There may not be a comment or two 

from those who use it and -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  There are bigger resources.  My point - and I am going to have to move it on, through 

you, Chair - is that it is so difficult for people who run businesses and unions to push aside that piece to say, 

“What will be an ideal”, which is the point I was pursuing.  I will leave it there, Chair, because I know we are 

going to pursue this further.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It is a tiny thing.  Just to go back to Jill [Collis] and talk about this correspondence 

between Michael Liebreich [former member, TfL Board] and Mike Brown [MVO, Commissioner, TfL].  On 

Page 23



 

  
 

10 August [2017] Michael Liebreich wrote to Mike Brown expressing his view that there should be a safety 

officer reporting directly to Mike.  Do you agree with him? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Yes, Michael did write to Mike Brown, yes, 

but -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Let me be clear, sorry: that you should be reporting directly to Mike Brown.  Do you agree 

with him? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  I do have a dotted line right to Mike and 

so I do report to Mike. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Directly? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Not directly, indirectly, but I -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is the operative word here: ‘directly’ to Mike.  Do you think that you should be doing 

that? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  That is one option that is being 

considered, yes, or the position of a Safety Director reporting to Mike for the group, yes. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We are going to move on.  I am mindful of time, Members.  In 

our next section we are going to delve in a little bit more - we have covered some of it - in terms of responses 

to the recommendations.  I will bring in my colleague, Assembly Member Pidgeon. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Lovely.  Before I get into that, I want to pick up maybe with 

Jackie and Jon.  Has your approach to managing the tram services changed since Sandilands and is it now that 

you are managing it more like a railway service rather than a bus service?  Has that fundamentally changed?  

Jon, do you want to go first? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  When you have those recommendations in front 

of you, it makes you think differently about how we are going to manage this tramway.  Unfortunately, it has 

taken that incident to challenge the whole tram industry, not just the one in Croydon.  There are challenges 

and opportunities for putting different arrangements in on trams.  Yes, we have been challenged to do so and 

so, yes, there is an element of railway thinking, you might say. 

 

The Rail Safety and Standards Board (RSSB) was set up after the Ladbroke Grove disaster and the heavy rail 

industry learned from that major incident and put in lots of different arrangements.  In a way, that is similar to 

what has happened here.  Of course the Light Rail Safety Standards Board is also now set up to learn lessons 

not just locally in Croydon but also across the national rail industry.  I am part of that setup now to try to 

promulgate some of the lessons we have learned.  There are some lessons to be learned from national rail and 

we have started that and there are also lessons to be learnt sharing across the seven tramways and two light 

railways in the UK where perhaps that was not quite as readily done before. 

 

Page 24



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Your thinking has changed as a result of this as to how you 

manage risks on the trams? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Yes, we are definitely on a journey and we are 

changing the way we approach things.  Just look at the actions that we are taking to do so, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Jackie, from your point of view? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  Yes.  From my point of view, a tram is not 

a bus and it is not a train, but it is covered by the Railways and Other Guided Transport Systems (Safety) 

Regulations 2006 (ROGS).  The emphasis has been about maybe raising our game a little.  All of our standards 

within tram that we have introduced are all based on railway, but we have to remember because we travel in 

the town that we still covered under the Highways Act.  It is quite complex and sometimes there are things that 

the highways need.  For example, road signs are very small in comparison to railway signs, which was one of 

the reasons that we work with TfL about putting the yellow - if you come to Croydon - around the signs 

because we cannot have railway signs under the Highways Act and we have to have authority to do that.  

Things that you can take for granted within rail we cannot within tram.  My senior managers have all come 

from rail and so we have put all our standards as though we were a rail company for that, incorporating the 

Highways Act as well.  ROGS is very clear in our minds now about everything that we are responsible for.  

When we have any incident, it comes under the RAIB.  It is not a road traffic accident.  That is the way that we 

behave and that is how we drive it.  There is a bit of a conflict between the Highways Act and also ROGS. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, it is complex but the thinking is different running buses 

to running rail.  I agree that this falls in between but it is how you think about it. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  Our standards are the ROGS. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Also, from a policy perspective, though, trams 

will get more expensive to build in future as a result of this and those things that happen.  There is, from a 

transport policy point of view, an expense to set up any transport network and this will drive costs in that area 

without doubt. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  We have talked about some of the changes and the 

recommendations from all these reviews.  How have you been engaging drivers and other stakeholders, 

including passengers, in how you are going about implementing these recommendations?  Jackie, let us start 

with you. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  Within all of our communications with all 

of the staff, the revenue protection inspectors and all that as well as the drivers, we are having driver briefings 

with our drivers.  There are two of those a week.  That is mainly based on safety, but it gives them the briefings 

on what we are doing.  We send out this monthly The Loop letter and, also, every driver books on at the depot 

and sees somebody when they come in.  There is always some communication between the driver and the 

controller.  It may not always be like nice conversations between them because at 3 o’clock in the morning 

everybody is a bit grumpy, but they do talk to them.  There is much more correspondence. 

 

Also, we have an open-door policy.  One of the things that I have introduced since we have been there is a tea 

and chat with Jackie on a Friday afternoon, if you want to come for that.  Quite a few drivers take that up.  We 

Page 25



 

  
 

have a cup of tea and we have a biscuit.  Sometimes it is a bit of cake!  They tell me everything they do not like 

and what they do like.  I have to say that that is really quite rewarding. 

 

One of the things that we have worked with TfL about is orientation in the tunnel.  I think you know that the 

driver appeared not to know which way he was going.  Out of the drivers came the cat’s eyes that we have put 

in the tunnel.  That came from the drivers.  We have put cat’s eyes into those tunnels so that they can see and 

are oriented about which way.  They have been instrumental in the lighting in the tunnels.  There are lots of 

things that they are wanting to tell us about.  They comment on how we can make things better.  All of that 

happens. 

 

Stakeholder-wise, we have been to quite a few scrutiny meetings at Croydon Council and given them updates 

and we continue to do that.  We have had the Leader of the Council , Cllr Tony Newman came with TfL and 

met with us.  In fact we have Sarah Jones [Member of Parliament for Croydon Central] on Friday coming. 

 

We are doing work with the community in New Addington.  We have to always remember that 40% of my 

drivers live in New Addington and so this was very personal to them.  We are doing some community work with 

them as well.  We are helping to feed the children in the school holidays and all of those sorts of things.  We 

are doing lots of work in schools.  We bring lots of groups into the tram to show them.  We have opened up to 

the community and lots of groups come in and see us and we talk about the tram. 

 

We have also had some of the survivors come to the tram because they want to see what we do.  We are doing 

all of those things.  We do lots of work with the Metropolitan Police Service about how we can work with them 

because that also includes the knife crime that we have in Croydon and we help towards that.  We are opening 

up and we are working with TfL. 

 

We are a community transport system, which is very different to train and lots of the bigger bus companies.  

The people of Croydon own that tram.  I go in and talk to them on the tram and people say to me, “We love 

the tram”.  People do not love buses, people do not love trains, but people love that tram.  You can see that 

because we do not have much graffiti.  We do not have much rubbish.  You go on that tram and people look 

after it.  That is because we have to work together to make that happen. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Can we tease out a little bit more there?  I am hearing 

everything you are saying, but you are making big changes.  You are implementing these recommendations.  

How are you consulting drivers and also real passengers?  How are you getting passengers involved in this?  

They may have suggestions as well. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  One of the challenges that we had after the 

incident was about using passenger information and complaints from people who had written in in various 

forms of communication.  One of the things that challenged us was whether we were really valuing that 

information as it came. 

 

We decided to change the way that we listen to customers’ complaints.  We now have a joined-up system.  It 

was in place very shortly after the incident.  We have a process for dealing with information, particularly safety-

critical information that is coming in, and we deal with that on an immediate basis.  We go and check the data.  

We go and check the information that people write into us.  We are listening.  There is a report that goes 

around to all of us on a daily basis of all the things, not just safety things, that happen.  We look at that. 

 

Page 26



 

  
 

In one example, last week a customer wrote in saying that she thought that a tram was over-speeding out to 

New Addington.  We checked that immediately and could not find any evidence of it, but I wrote to her 

personally to invite her to come in and tell us about her experience, “It might have been a valid speed and we 

think it was, but come in and tell us a little bit more because you might not have had the location right and so 

on”.  It has led us to be more sensitive to what our customers are saying about what they want from the 

system.  Also, they are our eyes and ears out there when it is not picked up in other ways what is going on.  

That is changed post Sandilands. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is about people who are, rightly, contacting you with 

concerns, but generally is there any work?  Is there any user group?  Is there anything with tram passengers 

that you are doing to engage them with the service? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Apart from the dialogue with the local 

communities and through Travelwatch, there is not specifically a passenger group -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  OK, that is fine.  I am trying to clarify that.  Let me come to 

Finn.  Let us pick up how drivers are being engaged.  We have heard lots of stuff about the communication 

and it sounds good, but it is about it being two-way and how they are being consulted on these changes. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  Jackie [Townsend] and I have the pleasure this afternoon of 

another visit to the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS). 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Gosh.  That sounds a treat, does it not? 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  Absolutely.  After two days of strike action down there from a 

90% yes vote, which tells you a little about the staff, how engaged they feel and how valued they feel.  There 

is a huge amount to be done.  There are big weaknesses in the consultation and the engagement of people at 

the moment.  The drivers see changes as coming from above and being done to them.  They do not feel that 

they are being involved in these discussions.  The representatives do not feel that.  I know Jackie does want to 

change this, but there is a hell of a long way to go.  They do not feel they are being engaged in those 

discussions about what things are going to happen. 

 

To some extent, there is a process.  Edicts come down from TfL saying, “First Group, you have to do this”.  

First Group management then say to their staff, “You have to do this”.  No one is really consulting the people 

right at the front and saying, “What impact will this have on you?”  There is a long way to go on that, Deputy 

Chair. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  What about the specific issue of the new technology and the 

Guardian Devices?  How are drivers feeling about them now? 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  There is certainly a lot less suspicion than there was initially, 

but it was a classic example because something was imposed from above rather people being engaged.  The 

first thing people heard about it was when it started to appear.  That is the classically wrong way to do things.  

If you want to bring change in, you have to bring your people with you and that means detailed consultation 

with the elected health and safety reps, making sure they are involved and part of the process.  They then 

become your ambassadors in the mess room and on the front line reassuring people.  We had to go through a 

very painful process and still are to some extent with the Guardian Device.  That could have been avoided if 

Page 27



 

  
 

consultation had been proper in the first place.  Again, to a large extent, it was driven by a kneejerk reaction.  

Something had to be done.  TfL says, “We will do something”, and people did not think through the process. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  We strike a balance.  Would we have anything in 

a cab today when you challenge us about that or not?  Getting it right is a real balance to strike. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You are leading the way for trams across the country in terms 

of trying to get this balance right.  Finn, is there other support that you think tram drivers need other than 

what has already been put in place?  I realise that they are at an early part of the process and you have your 

two positions, but it sounds like you work fairly well together on both your sides.  Hopefully, things will 

improve.  Is there something else that you think tram drivers need in terms of support that we should be aware 

of? 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  It is getting to grips with changing the culture down there and 

understanding that people are human beings.  It is our responsibility as a trade union to keep hammering 

management with this. 

 

Some of this stuff is quite small.  Dealing with issues around fatigue, when visiting the mess rooms down there, 

if you are tired on your half-hour break, you should be able to sit down in peace and quiet and have a 10-

minute nap.  That is a really good idea.  There are no facilities for people to do that in Tramlink.  There is hard 

seating in the mess room.  It is small stuff like that.  The new health and safety representative is now engaging 

globally with these issues and making those changes. 

 

In terms of support from outside, all I would ask is that when we do have unfortunate events like having to be 

on strike, which we want to avoid, there is an understanding that this does not come from our members being 

greedy or lazy.  It is because they have real issues and concerns and we want to work with the company to 

resolve them. 

 

The biggest thing I would ask for, though, is a closer dialogue between TfL and First Group and also involving 

us in that dialogue.  The situation at the moment is TfL does not speak to me about trams because they think 

that is the business of First Group.  We are very happy to speak to anyone to make things better and we would 

like to have those tripartite discussions involving TfL.  If you could knock their heads together to make that 

happen, it would be really helpful. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  We try.  I had one more question.  A lot of my questions were 

on fatigue, which we have already covered, but I wanted to pick up with you, Jon, the issue around the 

windows and doors and the passenger containment issue.  It says that you were putting extra film - for want of 

a better word - over the windows to help with that.  Did I hear you say that that is now complete?  Your target 

was March [2019]. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  It is, yes.  It is now complete. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Also, the investigation said that there should be further 

research to look at improving passenger containment.  What is happening with that?  Is that ongoing? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  One of the things that we had to think through 

was that one of the other recommendations aside from the containment one was around having an efficient 

evacuation process.  One of the ways to improve containment is to improve the calibre of the glazing and go to 

Page 28



 

  
 

lamination or whatever, but the challenge there was that if you put impregnable glass on the side of a tram and 

then you want to evacuate, how does that work?  Are you creating a bigger risk by following one 

recommendation and not the other?  We really had to think through that quite carefully to make sure we were 

not creating another problem by solving one.  What we came up with was this film solution. 

 

Also what shows some of the complexity is that when we did some of the testing around whether the body 

shell would be able to take heavy laminate glass, the technical response was that, no, it would not and we 

would start to get cracking and disintegration of the body shell on the tram if we put heavy laminate in.  

Again, by solving one problem, we just created another.  We would be withdrawing trams from service and 

having even more overcrowding on certain days at certain times.  It took us a while to come to the right 

conclusion for the whole network in that regard. 

 

In terms of what we can do for the future, we will need to replace the Bombardier trams, which are two-thirds 

of the fleet.  That was the tram type involved in the incident.  We will put into the specification for that when 

we go to market - to consider a more durable form of containment on the windows and that means building a 

stronger body shell, probably, in order to do so.  That is all part of that debate.  We have shared that with the 

tram manufacturers because there is not laminate glass in trams.  The body shells are not strong enough.  They 

are not built for that. 

 

The other thing about it, of course, is that we do not want to be there again in any case and so it is all about 

prevention of that returning and that is where a lot of the focus has been. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It is not only specific research.  The research really was you 

looking at what the options are and that is what you have now implemented? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  We did some destructive testing on the various 

forms of glazing and so on. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Is there any report on that that is available for us to look at? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Yes, we shared it with the rest of the tram 

industry and so if you would like that -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That would be helpful. Is this being now applied to buses as 

well or considered for bus safety? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  We have not had that dialogue yet but we have 

to go there in terms of considering it.  Straight up, the focus has to be on prevention. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, of course. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  When you are into mitigation, you have lost the 

safety argument. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Fair point, yes. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  It really has to be there.  If we are talking about 

choices, in my view, let us put the money into prevention rather than into mitigation. 

Page 29



 

  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Some good points have been covered.  I first of all would like to take the opportunity.  

Having given Finn almost a blank cheque on extra resources, I will challenge you back on the initial resistance 

from your members on the Guardian Device piece because this was an intensely emotional time in Croydon and 

that response by the union was not well received.  That needs to be noted, although I do understand the 

points that you have made. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  Absolutely.  In response, it was an intensely emotional time 

because drivers were picking up the trams in New Addington and being abused by people on the streets. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That is unforgivable. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  Absolutely.  Obviously, it was only a tiny minority of people.  It 

was an incredibly emotional time for the drivers there as well.  The drivers felt that they were being blamed and 

at the time they did not feel they were being supported.  That fed into the resistance to the Guardian Device.  

If the preliminary work had been done of engaging people, getting them involved, demonstrating the safety 

first of all, all that problem could have been avoided. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  The point needs to be made that there was a need and a demand, quite properly, for 

action.  Often companies and institutions are criticised for delay.  Any delay in in the need to make safe the 

trams was not welcome at the time.  We have rehearsed that and it is understood, Finn, but I just wanted to 

relay that. 

 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  I hear your point, but we still remain to be convinced that the 

Guardian Device has a real contribution to long-term safety. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That will be tested.   

 

I welcome talking about prevention as opposed to reaction.  Any new model of tram and other vehicles will 

have that containment piece because that was the real tragedy around the whole thing. 

 

Really I wanted a couple of more questions and I wanted to also for the record thank the work that particularly 

Jackie [Townsend] has done with the community in Croydon.  I know you have been out in Croydon with the 

Leader and the other leading politicians and the communities in giving reassurance over these last two years.  I 

would like for the record to be grateful for that. 

 

We have touched upon incident reporting and investigation already.  Probably this is for Jill initially and 

possibly Adrian.  How have procedures been improved about the whole incident investigating procedure?  Is 

there a better procedure now for reporting by passengers and also by staff and others and managers as well?  

Is there a better system? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  As Jon has already mentioned, we have 

made it easier for customer complaints to be raised.  We have reviewed that procedure.  It is a lot quicker.  It 

prioritised.  We can take action on high-priority incidents.  That has definitely improved.  There are some 

tangible benefits coming out of that.  TfL gets to see all the complaints that come in and so we can look at 

patterns and trends.  Incident investigation has improved. 

Page 30



 

  
 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, there is a better flow of information.  We have heard examples of passengers 

coming forward.  We are hearing that there is an evolving better flow of information between drivers and 

managers and leaders in the organisation.  That is to be welcomed. 

 

Are there any other lessons to be learned that are not necessarily specific in the recommendations?  We talked 

about an idea around resources and staffing and I would like to put that on record as something that might 

need to be as a much bigger picture, above the pay grade of perhaps even the people in this room.  Are there 

other things that could be suggested? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  Our governance procedure has been 

reviewed and every period we have a health and safety meeting between London Trams and us.  Every single 

incident that has happened is reviewed and actions come out of there.  There is two-way traffic between 

incidents that happen within TOL and within London Trams and we discuss those each period and resolve 

those issues. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That was not in place before? 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  They still had the health and safety bit, 

but there was not a level two that we have now, which is where Mark [Davis, General Manager of London 

Trams, TfL] and I meet.  Anything that cannot be resolved at those meetings then comes to the General 

Manager and me.  If we cannot do that, it goes to Jon [Fox] and Steve Montgomery [Managing Director, First 

Rail, First Group].  There is a clear understanding now of how we resolve issues.  I have to say that it is very 

effective and we have moved on and have resolved many issues around the running of the tram because of 

these very effective meetings. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  There will be that expectation.  Lastly from me, we have heard about the support for 

the families, bearing in mind that, as Jackie so profoundly put it, the trams are very much a community 

because the people in New Addington use them.  They also drive them and sometimes they may even be 

controllers or the managers.  They are wonderful people in New Addington.  It is important that those families 

have been supported all the way through and I thank all the organisations here to do so.  I would urge you to 

continue to do so and I assume you will be continuing to support the families.  Is that fair to say? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That ‘yes’ is enough from me.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Great.  I am mindful of time.  We have one more section before we change 

over, Assembly Member Prince? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Just one quick question, if I may.  As we are talking about the RAIB report - and this 

question is to Jill - do you think the report would have been enhanced had the RAIB received the TfL fatigue 

audit before its completion? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  If you look at the revised second version 

of the RAIB report that it put out, it did say that what information we provided to them did not significantly 

change anything.  What both we and Todd had provided during the course of the investigations just confirmed 

what they had already discovered.  It reinforced their own findings. 

Page 31



 

  
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can you explain exactly why the report was not sent in advance? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  It was not sent as quickly as it should have 

been because it was a very regrettable genuine mistake.  As soon as we found out we had not done it and that 

there was an oversight, we corrected it and sent it, but it fell in a gap between people who thought it should 

have gone out.  It was just an honest oversight.  Then, when we investigated that and found out it was, it then 

got corrected and we sent it up again. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That was a genuine oversight on two occasions?  It was asked in September [2017] that it 

be sent and it was then asked again in November that it be sent.  Was that two genuine mistakes? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  We were asked in the January meeting to 

confirm whether we had sent it and it was then that we discovered we had not sent it. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Let me help you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  There was a request put in twice. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It was asked for on 9 September and again on 22 November. 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  On 22 November we sent the report -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  We requested on 22 January [2018] whether it had been sent or not. 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  Yes.  We believed we had sent it and, 

when we investigated, we found that we had not.  It was an oversight and it was a gap and we are very sorry 

that we had done that.  We did apologise at the time and then corrected it after the January meeting to send 

it, but it was an honest oversight. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Our last section on trams is looking at Vision Zero.  Again, I was 

quite surprised that walking around the tram infrastructure was not discussed as part of the safety 

recommendations.  I am going to hand over to my colleague Assembly Member Russell to lead on this 

question. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  These questions are for TfL and so for Jill and Jon [Fox].  At TfL you have your 

Vision Zero action plan but there are no specific targets within the Vision Zero action plan for trams.  Just 

generally, how do you think Vision Zero is shaping TfL’s approach to tram safety?   

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  The Vision Zero philosophy is about TfL 

and how we manage safety.  It is making sure that everybody understands that no fatality or serious injury is 

acceptable.  If you look at what Jon was saying and look at the investigations and what Jackie [Townsend] has 

been saying, it is all about preventing accidents and working together to prevent them.  That is very much core 

to how we are managing recommendations from the RAIB report but also more of our tactical safety 

improvement recommendations.  It is making sure everybody understands why it is important in the wider 

community as well and all that engagement and really driving the Vision Zero. 

Page 32



 

  
 

 

Also, our regulator has a very similar vision, which is for zero fatalities and major injuries from industry-caused 

incidents.  The regulatory side of trams and how we are being managed and how we get scrutinised is very 

much aligned to the Mayor’s and TfL’s Vision Zero philosophy. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Jon, do you want to add anything to that? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  It is a fair point.  Should trams - and other 

modes, for that matter, apart from road-based ones - be more present in the Vision Zero programme?  That is 

something that is worth taking away to see if we should make it more obvious that it is.  The reality is that in 

the regulated environment in which we operate, we have no choice but to be zero-tolerant of killed and 

seriously injured incidents (KSIs).  It is there, it is absolutely there, but perhaps we could articulate it a bit 

better. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  When we think about people, for instance, walking and cycling around trams, there 

have been collisions in the past.  A cyclist at the Morden Hall footpath crossing back in 2008 was killed in a 

collision with a tram and the RAIB suggested that there should be some work done to the foot crossings to 

make sure that it was more obvious what needed to happen.  There was also an incident in 2013 when Roger 

De Klerk was killed.  His bike got stuck in a tram line and he then fell into the path of a bus.  It took five years 

after his death for related safety improvements to be made. 

 

I suppose the question is: what more can be done to improve tram safety, particularly in relation to walking and 

cycling? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  One of the things that we have been looking at 

across TfL is the impacts between vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists and how that environment can be 

improved.  One of the things that happened when we bought the new trams on the tram network was that the 

modern Stadler trams have an under-run protector.  That is a device that stops objects or people falling 

underneath the wheels of the tram.  That was not on the original design but was provided as an option by the 

manufacturer when we bought the Stadler trams.  When you think of the profile of the tram and making that 

profile more deflective perhaps for those incidents, that is some of the work that we have started that I am 

sure you will hear about in the bus environment too.  That has already been there.  We have already started 

thinking about how to work with the environment not just inside the tram but outside the tram. 

 

On our journey, we will be wanting to specify that as part of the requirement when we buy new trams for 

future.  In the past we took what the manufacturer proposed to us.  That indicates the change in our thinking 

about the external environment as well as the internal environment of the trams, which is important. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What about the rails and the potential for people having problems with bikes in 

relation to rails? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  The on-street running risk is a challenging one.  

Most of the tram network is not on-street.  It is off-street in our case, not in all cases and in that case where 

the person did get stuck.  We did do some information sharing at the time about that.  Do you remember the 

detail? 

 

Jill Collis (Director of Health, Safety and Environment, TfL):  I do not remember, no. 

 

Page 33



 

  
 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  I am happy to take that away and research the 

background to what we did in that because I do not have that available with me. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That would be useful.  It is about guidance for when new trams are being put in but 

also for the environment around trams when they are on the street that there is proper Vision Zero guidance 

for local authorities and, if it is on TfL sections of road, that there is some thought in the guidance about how 

to make sure it is as safe as possible for people who are walking and cycling. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  We are also looking at how we can help 

the people who are pedestrians and cyclists because trams can be quite quiet, for example.  Part of the 

campaign is on that trams are quiet, therefore, how you can watch out for them and be aware of the 

environment you are in.  That is part of Vision Zero to help people understand the environment they are 

cycling or walking in, as well as the two-way thing. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  At each high-risk foot crossing we have put in a 

little chicane of fencing.  It turns your whole body to look towards one way and the other one as you walk 

across the foot crossing.  That is not prevalent in the rest of the tram industry in the UK and certainly is not in 

Europe where the mentality has -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Is that working? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  That is working and that has changed things.  It 

makes people look a little bit more.  It does not if they have their earphones in and their hood up and they just 

walk straight across.  How you ever deal with that is a challenge that remains with us but that has changed the 

way that people cross those crossings and has made a difference. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, thank you.  Finally, there is the issue of people slipping, tripping and falling inside 

trams.  We have seen the latest Health, Safety and Environment report for Quarter 3 for 2018/19.  It said that 

a total of 94 customers were injured on the rail network of TfL in the quarter.  Of these, 10 incidents occurred 

on the tram network.  For the same period in 2017/18, there were only five incidents.  Obviously, this is just 

one quarter and it is not a statistical trend but that is a lot of people slipping, tripping, and falling on the 

trams.  I wonder whether you need to do more to be addressing that.  Is that to do with the speeds they are 

driven at?  We have heard they have come down from 80 kilometres an hour to 70 kilometres an hour but is 

there more that could be done around speed to reduce these incidents of slipping, tripping and falling? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  One of the challenges that Jackie [Townsend] 

and Finn [Brennan] may wish to comment on too is around if an obstacle suddenly appears in front of a tram, 

the tram driver has different braking options available to him.  The most extreme of those does cause an 

extreme stop, faster than a road vehicle, and so what the driver has to judge is whether to apply the extreme 

braking option and induce some internal, rapid braking, which causes a greater risk than if they put on a 

service brake. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Should a tram be travelling at a speed where there is a risk that something might 

appear in front where extreme braking is necessary?  Surely the speeds should be appropriate to the people 

around. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Often people are walking across the road where 

they perhaps should not be and walk out in front of the tram. 

Page 34



 

  
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is what Vision Zero is about. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  It is, absolutely. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is about anticipating bad behaviour from people, pedestrians who wear 

headphones, they look at their phones, they are distracted by a small child who is crying because they want an 

apple, or they want a chocolate bar or whatever it is.  People are distracted.  Should the trams be travelling at 

the kind of speed where that sharp braking is required through areas where they are mixing with pedestrians? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  Sure.  I would love to invite you to come down 

to Croydon because if you have ever been outside of East Croydon Station - I have to hand it to the drivers in 

this case - the way they handle the risk of pedestrians walking across the environment outside East Croydon 

Station is a testament to their skill, frankly.  They approach that by using the bell.  They use the horn if they 

need to and the number of incidents that have not happened there is incredible.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Of course, and that absolutely is to do with the skill of the drivers.  We should not be 

putting the drivers in a position where they are forced to use an emergency brake.  Should the speeds be 

looked at across all the sections? 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  It is a good point. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  The slower you are, if you go over the 

hazard brake, the more impact inside that tram.  We can show you.  If you come down, we can show you the 

closed-circuit television (CCTV) of the effect of the hazard brake especially in the CR-4000 [tram], if you put 

the hazard brake on.  Of course, for whatever reason, social behaviour is changing.  People do not want to sit 

next to each other anymore.  Instead of people sitting on seats with their back to the seat, they sit like this 

[sideways on the chair] because they do not want to sit facing the next person.  If the hazard brake comes on 

and you are sitting like this, you are going to go flying.  Mark and I are going to try to do a campaign.  It does 

not matter what speed you are going at, once that hazard brake is applied inside the tram, that is why the tram 

drivers have to -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  But the hazard brake is much less likely to be applied if the tram is going slower 

overall. 

 

Jackie Townsend (Managing Director, Tram Operations Ltd):  No.  People literally walk in front of them.  

Mobility scooters, cyclists; the tram is going slowly and some person, for whatever reason, walks right out and 

they have to apply that brake.  It is not about the speed.  In fact, the hazard brake at a higher speed does less 

damage inside the tram than at low speeds. 

 

Jon Fox (Director of Rail and Sponsored Services, TfL):  But your concern about the environment and if 

we have the focus on that, the Vision Zero is a completely valid one and we take that away to think about 

some more. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If you could come back to us with some thoughts on that and particularly about the 

impact of braking and the need for drivers to brake because if drivers are travelling at a slightly slower speed, 

they are more able to see and anticipate the people that are coming along around them.  Thank you. 

 

Page 35



 

  
 

Finn Brennan (District Organiser, ASLEF):  I would like to say thank you to all of you who have paid 

tribute to the skills and professionalism of the drivers.  I am sure Jackie [Townsend] will reflect on that when 

we meet.  

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  There were some reports that TfL were going to send through to us.  We 

have taken a note of that.  We will liaise with you.  Just to thank our guests again: Jill Collis, Jon Fox, 

Finn Brennan, Adrian Jones and Jackie Townsend, thank you.   

 

 

 

Page 36



 

  
 

Appendix 2 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – Wednesday, 15 May 2019 
Transcript of Item 9 – Tram and Bus Safety in London – Panel 2 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Thank you all very much for joining us.  This is the second part of our 

meeting and the focus will be on bus safety.  Just to introduce our guests, we have Claire Mann, Transport for 

London (TfL) Director of Bus Operations; Stuart Reid, TfL Interim Director of Vision Zero; Sinisa Cica from 

Unite, who is the Chair of the London Advisory Committee; Tony Wilson from Abellio Bus Company, Managing 

Director; and Tom Kearney, who is the founder of #LondonBusWatch and the Transparency & Corporate 

Governance Campaign.  Welcome to all of you this morning. 

 

I am going to start with some of the questions on this section and I am looking at the data from the last 

quarter in TfL, which is from September 2018 through to December 2018.  There were over 1,098 injuries 

related to buses, quite a high figure.  Of that, 10% related to people killed or seriously injured (KSIs) and there 

were four fatalities in that period, which is a very small window for four fatalities.  There are still a number of 

deaths on our roads. 

 

In that quarter, 32% of all bus-related KSIs were vulnerable road users.  What more do we think needs to be 

done to improve bus safety in relation to that key group?  I will start with Claire. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    It is fair to say that it is absolutely unacceptable that 

people cannot go about their business using the bus network or walking around and cycling on London roads 

for fear of being hurt.  Clearly, the numbers that we talk about are quite stubborn in terms of where we are 

with fatalities, for sure.   

 

In terms of serious injuries, that number is too high.  We launched the Bus Safety Programme in 2016 and 

there are many workstreams within that programme.  It started off with six key areas and as time has gone on 

because the programme develops as we learn more and more about the issues, we have around 10 

workstreams. 

 

One of the key issues we have in terms of onboard injuries is how we can prevent people being harmed on 

board a bus.  We talked earlier about the skill of a tram driver.  In terms of the skill of a bus driver, driving 

around London’s roads, the amount of congestion and various contradictions and issues they have to face 

every day is very challenging.  We need to find a way to ensure that people travelling on board our buses, 

which is what the majority of those numbers come from, can be protected because, very similarly, if we have 

somebody stepping out in front of a bus or a potential collision incident, the driver has to react to that.  Often, 

many of these injuries are as a result of the driver braking to avoid an incident and people falling on the 

vehicle. 

 

We are looking at the interior design of the vehicle as part of our Bus Safety Standard (BSS).  We are also 

looking at what we can do to enhance customer behaviour on a bus and make sure people are travelling safely.  

You may be aware that we did trial an announcement last year which did not necessarily go down very well.  It 

was my claim to fame in terms of how that went. 

 

We did another trial more recently in Bromley and Bexley which is an area where we have a higher number of 

onboard slips, trips and falls.  We targeted announcements every 10 to 12 minutes which were a bit more 

Page 37



 

  
 

nuanced in terms of asking people to be careful when they are moving around the vehicle.  This was received 

very positively by the community.  We need to keep working in that area in terms of on bus incidents. 

 

In terms of the broader issue of the stubbornly high numbers of fatalities on the network, in October 2018, we 

launched the BSS, to which many people here came, or were certainly invited.  This is the new design of a 

London bus.   

 

In terms of how we eradicate fatalities, through Vision Zero, we know that people make mistakes and humans 

make errors all over and it is about how we make the environment more forgiving for those.  The BSS looks at 

the actual physical design of the vehicle.  It also looks at various countermeasures that can be put on in terms 

of technology to assist the driver.  For example, advance emergency braking or automated emergency braking 

is something that we have in the plan for the future for buses.  If there is an object in front of the vehicle or a 

person that comes out in front of the vehicle, the vehicle will stop.  It is quite a difficult technology to put on 

to a big London bus where you have people standing at the side of the road waiting to board a bus.  It needs 

to be able to work out when it needs to stop.  That technology is still in production and development; 

technology like that, things like the design of the front of the vehicle.  If somebody was hit by a vehicle, they 

would be deflected, and it is another way that we hope to reduce the amount of serious harm to people should 

they be struck by a vehicle. 

 

We are looking at devices for drivers.  If they, by mistake, put their foot on the wrong pedal which can happen, 

and has happened, there will be an indicator light on the cab dashboard that will advise them that they have 

put their foot on the wrong pedal.  We are looking at various different things to see what we can do to make 

the challenging role of a driver easier and protect our vulnerable road users which is our biggest challenge. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Is there anything you wanted to add on that, Stuart? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    All I would say is that across London as a whole, we 

absolutely recognise that the burden of death and serious injury resulting from collisions on the roads is 

unacceptably high.  The stats data for 2018 are still provisional and are still being validated.  Across London, 

there will have been over 4,000 deaths and serious injuries on the road network specifically.  We are 

determined to drive that number down as part of the Vision Zero commitment that the Mayor has made, and 

we have made. 

 

Vision Zero is not a brand new idea.  It has been in development and in delivery overseas since as early as mid- 

to-late 1990s.  There is a fairly well established and validated way of thinking about how to achieve reductions 

in deaths and serious injuries starting from the point which Claire has already mentioned which is that human 

error is inevitable.  People are not perfect and cannot be perfected, therefore, we have to create a systemic 

environment within which people can make those errors without them being catastrophic. 

 

The Vision Zero framework - and we have set this out in our Vision Zero Action Plan for London - covers 

appropriate speeds, safe speeds, street design as it were, the stage upon which people act out their 

behaviours, the design of vehicles and the behaviour of people within that set of context. 

 

The Bus Safety Programme, as set out, aims to make progress in each of those areas, therefore, the intelligent 

speed assistance, the speed monitoring as part of the speed pillar.  Street design is something which we are 

looking at improving in a much broader context, not just around the bus safety theme but around a safer 

junctions’ programme, a healthy streets’ programme to create safe environments for people to be in. 

 

Page 38



 

  
 

The bus driver training, which I am sure we will come on to, is about the behaviours of drivers and their hazard 

perception, etc.  We have a robust and internationally validated framework within which to develop this.  The 

specific tactics around buses within that framework are tailored to the way the bus network operates and the 

fact that we have more influence over buses and bus operations than we do over some of the other vehicles 

and vehicle types and people travelling around the network. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Is there anything you wanted to add in terms of perhaps from the driver’s 

perspective? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  Yes.  While I agree with my colleagues so far, any injury on our bus network 

is one too many.  What we quite often overlook is those people driving our buses and the stress and the 

fatigue they are put under, long hours, short breaks, pulled into the manager’s office on a weekly basis on 

every little complaint.  These days, it is very easy for anyone on the bus to phone up and complain about a 

driver stopping two feet before the bus stop, stopping two feet past the bus stop, etc. 

 

We liaise with TfL.  We have tripartite meetings where we are trying to put our ideas forward.  We feel that the 

union has been seen as a tick box exercise and we feel that we are the experts in this field.  If anyone can come 

up with ideas to influence safety, it is the bus drivers themselves. 

 

Being a bus driver these days is not a job that we are proud of and this shows in the shortage of people 

applying to be bus drivers and a shortage that companies have to deal with. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  From an operator’s perspective in terms of how we improve safety for these 

vulnerable groups? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  There is probably more change going on now and more effort 

for change than there has even been in my 40 years in the industry.  There is a lot we have probably assumed 

over the years that is now being challenged, a lot about shift patterns, about how drivers get fatigued and 

stressed.  We are getting more and more information, almost daily, weekly of all those extraneous factors. 

 

Vehicle design is being transformed and the manufacturers are being challenged to come up with new ideas.  

We have new players coming into the markets with new technologies.  There is a massive amount going on and 

TfL should be applauded, if nothing else, for challenging the industry, challenging us as operators, challenging 

the manufacturers, suppliers and developers of new technologies that we have never thought about before.  

This fatigue issue, the piece of kit that sits on the trams is now only one example of what you can get out 

there to look at fatigue.  When that first started, there were not many options.  Now there is a lot more options 

and there is a lot more information being thrown into the pot for us all to consider.   

 

For example, and Sinisa [Cica] will probably back me up on this, we have tried for many years to put shift 

patterns in places that drivers want to do.  The drivers come and say, “Well, I want to do permanent earlies.  I 

want to do nights.  I want to do this and that”.  Some of the thinking now is we need to protect them from 

themselves because some of those choices are not working.  Someone who works permanent nights and they 

say they have childcare responsibilities and we say, “OK, that is fine.  You go home and you look after your 

kids but when do you sleep?”  There is a whole host of stuff that is coming at us.  All I can say is through my 

experience and my particular company, through talking to colleagues in other bus companies, through what we 

do in the bus operator’s forum, we have a specific safety meeting, there is so much more awareness. 

 

Page 39



 

  
 

From an operator perspective, nobody wants to go out there and kill or seriously injure people.  The genuine 

aim from the operator fraternity is we know we have to get better.  At the moment, we are not quite sure how.  

There is so many different things we have to get grips with.   

 

Collision rates get challenged.  We are seeing collision rates increase as road space is being reduced and we get 

more cyclists.  All those different things are not helping in the process but there is a genuine will from the 

operators to make it better in many ways. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Tom, something you wanted to say. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  

Looking at bus safety, there are three things.  Transparency, accountability and leadership, especially in 

corporate governance.  If you recall, you may not notice, but the reason why TfL publishes its bus safety data 

every quarter is because I started campaigning back in my hospital bed.  When I started looking for the data, 

none existed.  We had the press report yesterday from GMB, which showed in the last five years, the average 

of people hit by buses is three a day.  The average KSIs is four per week.  That is based on TfL data.  The 

reason why we know that is because I survived and decided to do something about it. 

 

If you look at the data from 2018, three bus companies which constituted 46% of the bus fleet of TfL are 

involved in 54% of those injuries, three bus companies.  There are 10 bus operators.  Three of them, 

specifically Arriva, ComfortDelGro - which is Metroline - and RATP, are basically the top three.  The reason why 

I wanted data published is because precisely you have stat granularity.  I am not accusing these companies of 

being worse or better but now that we know that those companies are involved in the most collisions, you can 

then begin to research.  Maybe it is where they are operating.  Maybe it is policies they have.   

 

I have seen in Metroline that it shows a 14-hour minimum on a shift that has been agreed by the union.  I said 

to myself, “If you are on a 14-hour shift and you are commuting an hour each way, that is 16 hours”.  That 

leaves you eight hours, or less than eight hours to be with your family and then, guess what?  If you have kids 

that are awake or you have issues in your neighbourhood or whatever, you are getting five hours sleep.  Those 

guys are being rostered five, six, seven days in a row.   

 

The issues raised by the Unite representative are true.  Fatigue is a huge issue.  We heard on the last session 

with trams, fatigue, fatigue, fatigue.  Personally, talking with bus drivers, and being in contact with bus drivers 

from many unions across the country, fatigue driving is their single biggest worry. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  OK, thank you.  One of the things that we saw in that data which you 

rightly pointed out is interesting and good to delve into was the fact that a number of the bus related injuries 

similar to the ones on the trams were as a result of slips, trips and falls.  Is there more that could be done to 

address this?  We touched on the Vision Zero element but is there a lot more that could be done apart from 

the announcements? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We mentioned announcements.  It is very difficult with 

announcements not to annoy people.  Quite a few people said, “I know the bus is going to move and obviously 

I am going to hold on”.  It is not that obvious.  We talked earlier about technology and people’s mobile phones 

and bags and they are just distracted.  There is the customer approach and the whole behavioural issue. 

 

We are looking at the flooring on the vehicles as well as part of the BSS phase one, which has now been 

published.  The anti-slip flooring nature needs to be just right.  In terms of not being able to slip but not 

Page 40



 

  
 

causing harm should you because it can be too rough is a very fine balance.  We are looking at the floor and 

we have specified that now. 

 

I do not know if Stuart [Reid] wants to talk about the general Vision Zero approach.  It is about how we train 

our drivers as well.  Stuart briefly mentioned the new driver training we have which is just about to kick off.  

We have called this driver training Destination Zero because it feeds into the Vision Zero approach.  We have 

worked very closely with the union on the development of the training.  We have looked at technology to 

make sure that if we cannot get every driver out on to a bicycle to give them the feeling of what it is like to be 

a vulnerable road user, we use 360o technology to show them what it looks like to be sitting in the bus also as 

well on a bicycle next to a bus that passes closely and as a pedestrian.   

 

We are trying to give the driver the sense of how we all we need to play together to ensure that we create a 

safe environment.  That also introduces the issue around passengers on board the bus and if you have to avoid 

a collision, how you do that in the best possible way. 

 

As Sinisa [Cica] rightly said, it is very challenging for drivers.  I absolutely feel this.  I used to work in the rail 

industry and drive trains and I know that you could focus on the line ahead, you had no distraction from traffic, 

you did not have to deal with the customers, and you could focus.  It is not like that for a bus driver.  There are 

so many factors that affect the ability to concentrate.  Our job, through training, development and technology, 

is to make it as easy for them to be able to deal with all these challenges. 

 

Sinisa [Cica] also mentioned the tripartite meeting.  I came into the role a couple of years ago now and I know 

that that meeting has been happening for some time, but we are starting to really get into discussing how we 

can do more for the wellbeing of our drivers as well.  We are just about to launch a health bus, a bus that will 

go from garage to garage and give health advice to drivers in terms of wellbeing, what they can do. 

 

Also we mentioned fatigue earlier.  You will know that we have commissioned Loughborough University to do 

some fatigue research.  We have just got the initial findings of that back now, so we will be publishing that in 

the summer when we have been through it, we have gone it with Loughborough University and we have 

understood what it is telling us.  But that research has involved Unite the Union and our bus operators in TfL 

very closely to ensure that everybody understands that what comes out of that will not be comfortable for 

anybody, actually.  We are all going to have to decide what the best approach is going forward, because it is 

about the employer, it is about the employee and it is about how we understand how individuals are and all the 

different factors that bring together fatigue.  It is about us all doing stuff together, so it is going to be very 

challenging, but we need to take action. 

 

When the research was launched, one of the first things that happened was Loughborough University looked 

at all of the literature available on bus driver fatigue.  There is hardly anything out there.  This has not been 

done before.  We are leading the way here, because we realise we do not have enough data and evidence as to 

what the issues are.  The research has gone into lots of different elements to really start to pull out what we 

need to know.  I am really pleased that we have done this, but we know that the road ahead in terms of getting 

the right outcomes is going to be long and it will be challenging, but we need to do something about it.  All of 

these things add together to ensure that we protect the public, the drivers and the customers from harm.  I am 

really excited but it, but also nervous about the challenge ahead, it is fair to say. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to quickly talk about the 14-hour driver shifts and the three companies with the 

highest collision data, has somebody done an analysis on that?  Is it because of the routes they drive; is it 

Page 41



 

  
 

because of the contracts that they give to their employees?  When are these incidents happening?  Are they at 

the beginning of the shift, the middle, the end?  Are they in the day, the night? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  TfL 

does not publish this data.  This was published by GMB.  TfL does not publish any data on its website that 

shows this type of analysis.  This was done by the union. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  Does this analysis exist? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Obviously we publish quarterly statistics, which will tell 

you by garage where incidents occur.  What Tom refers to is the facts of the matter.  In terms of operators in 

London, Tom mentioned some of them are working in very constrained central London areas, others -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Sorry, just to stop you, I do not want to focus on the operators.  I want to focus on 

whether that data exists.  I might even understand why TfL does not publish it, but does the data exist that 

looks at where the incidents happened, which company is involved, what time in that driver’s shift is involved?  

It strikes me that if you are trying to make a change around safety, they are the fundamentals, are they not?  

Who is having an incident, where, when and why, does that data exist? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    For every incident that involves harm, there is an 

investigation which will determine all of those factors.  The driver report will say when it happened, what shift 

they were on, what location it was at, so all of that information exists.  When it comes to serious injuries, we 

have what we call a Notification and Investigation of Major Incidents (NIMI) process and the investigation is 

very deep in terms of how we understand the root cause of what happened that day.  TfL also reviews that 

investigation in conjunction with the operator. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Again, I am not accusing anything, I am trying to -- 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    No, that is fine. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Then what is done with that data?  How does that play into your Vision Zero?  If I listen 

to you speak, it sounds like the data exists, but it is not being used.  I am asking you how is that data 

informing your next steps?   

 

Let me add something else which is slightly tangential, because I ride the bus all the time.  I was not involved 

in this announcement trial.  I am a fairly mobile person and I liked that announcement, so I am not sure why it 

does not happen anywhere else. 

 

The other thing that strikes me on the bus is all the hard points there is to hit.  I understand the temptation to 

have lots of poles so that I can hold on so I do not fall in the first place, but then of course I fall against these 

poles.  It strikes me that the bus cushion does not wrap all the way around a chair, so my head will connect 

with the hard part of the chair.  How come these simple things are not being looked at? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    They are.  In terms of the interior of the vehicle, the way 

we structured the BSS - this is about all of the things you mention in terms of the design and the materials - is 

we looked at all of the police data on serious incidents that had happened on the network.  We got to root 

cause and then came up with a set of countermeasures to prevent those things happening.  In terms of the 

first stage of the BSS, that has addressed all of the immediate things that we know we need to do to try to 

Page 42



 

  
 

prevent serious harm.  The interior of the vehicle and the actual materials we used for the poles etc is part of 

the BSS.  We do not yet have the solution, so we have gone out to the industry, the manufacturers and the 

market and said, “Tell us how we can prevent this issue” because we know there are various different 

coverings.  Things like the height of a seat is something that can cause injury, because people are going over 

and back with a lower seat.  We are looking at all of that as part of the continued research, so the 

manufacturers and the industry are looking at interiors.  The one thing we could do quite quickly is specify an 

anti-slip flooring, so that is what we have done, but in terms of developing the next level of interior design, 

that is what will come into the next phase. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Sorry, I am trying to help the Chair out and be quick.  Your answer has satisfied me, but I 

want to understand, you have this data about where, when and why the accidents are happening.  Are you 

using that to speak to any operator particularly about what they should be doing next? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We launched a year ago a Safety Performance Indicator 

(SPI) or index for each separate bus operator across London, which is an index which has got 41 different 

measures within it, which gives us the health of that operator in terms of their safety performance.  The results 

of their performance in that period are put through the system to come up with their performance index.  My 

performance team and safety team go and speak to the operators to discuss their results in terms of their 

performance, but also we run an assurance programme where every quarter the safety team go and they assure 

those results.  In terms of an audit process, where in the past we might have gone and checked the processes, 

we do not do that anymore. 

 

We go to the operator, we meet with some drivers and some garage managers and we say to them, “Can you 

tell me the last time someone spoke to you about safety?  Can you show me some evidence of the briefings 

you have had recently?”  We test the processes and procedures through an assurance programme, so when we 

meet with the operators, we talk about their actual performance in terms of what happened that month, if the 

trend is going up or down and where are the hotspots.  They tell us where the hotspots are, because they have 

the data, which they did not have in this amount of detail before.  We then talk about their assurance and 

whether or not that is becoming healthier, because of course we can have a period where you have an 

unfortunate set of circumstances, but if your underlying processes and behaviours are improving, that should 

bring a betterment in the end.  Then we challenge them for action plans where we are not comfortable with 

that. 

 

I was going to ask Tony if he could comment at the end of this - because we do it to you - in terms of that 

relationship, what it is like. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Yes, on your point about the granular detail of incidents, 

certainly we have - and I am sure my colleagues in other operations have done - looked at time of day, time in 

shift and all that sort of thing.  It would have been fantastic if there had been some direct correlation where we 

could have said, “It was always at the end of shift after they had done 12 hours.”  It was completely 

randomised.  It was extraordinary.  There was no clear pattern, unfortunately, which was not very helpful. 

 

One of the other questions that may come up, incentivising safety, how do the operators act in the right way, 

what strictures are put on us to force us, if you like, to look at it the right way, the SPI has done possibly more 

than even maybe it was intended to do in terms of not having a direct incentive, but what other mechanism 

could you put in place so we get operators doing the right thing?  The SPI, across its 40-odd different key 

performance indicators (KPIs), a huge basket, if you like, we - and I know my colleagues - are out there trying 

to improve each one of those measures to get our SPI index score up.  Now, I can say for ourselves we have 

Page 43



 

  
 

seen a steady increase over time, which is exactly what it was designed to do, but across the network we have 

also seen an increase.  It is focusing our minds on the right things.  You cannot just go and cherry-pick; you 

have to do all of those measures.  It is no good being brilliant in three and rubbish in the rest.  You have to 

tackle all of them. 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  I was going to ask something in regards to what Claire [Mann] said about 

how they are consulting drivers.  We have never seen drivers being consulted before at the garages about any 

sort of safety.  The problem we have with the drivers, rather than being educated, they are being punished 

about everything that happens out there.  That is a big problem because when you have someone who has 

done 10 years of driving without any problems and then they get involved in a serious collision, usually the 

cure for that from the operating side is to push them through the door, but that impacts every other driver.  

Their people are very unhappy, they are seen as numbers, expendable, and they do not feel respected.  If we 

change that and we start looking at more initiatives on educating our drivers, the safety will improve. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  As an operator, I would disagree with that.  I am sure there are 

pockets of it and I can fully understand it, but that is not a blanket scenario. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  The 

SPI, Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM] asked for that a number of times.  TfL publishes bus performance based on 

timeliness, not on the SPI.  I would say, as someone for transparency, it should be published every quarter and 

visible to the public. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We will be publishing that this quarter with the quarter 1 

results. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  You 

have had it for a year, though.  You have had it for an entire year now. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    OK.  When you are bringing in a new indicator, like we 

did in TfL two years ago for the TfL bus network, in terms of our whole operation, you need to bed it in and 

ensure you understand what the data is telling you.  We have done that now; we have the data.  We have had a 

year of it running.  We can see that there were some tweaks that needed to be made to make sure that the 

baskets were weighted effectively.  We have now done that and we are in a position to produce that going 

forward. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  You will be able to publish a whole year then, since you have the data? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We will be ... yes, we have a year.  Yes. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That would be great if we had that.  Assembly Member Bacon. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Thank you, Chair.  I will be as quick as I can.  I am going to go back to the statistic that 

Mr Kearney gave earlier on.  I think you said it was 54% of incidents were with three bus operating companies 

out of 10. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  It 

constituted 46% of the bus fleet. 

 

Page 44



 

  
 

Gareth Bacon AM:  All right, yes, but 54% of the incidents.  Is that what you said? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  The 

KSI collisions. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  That was the first question, the KSI question.  Assembly Member Bailey asked you, 

Ms Mann, whether the data, bus company by bus company, exists.  I did not quite get the answer.  You did say 

that obviously you investigate every single incident and you do it very thoroughly; that is fine.  The question 

that was being asked - and certainly the answer I wanted to hear - was whether you keep that data bus 

company by bus company.  Do you? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    In terms of incidents that happen, yes, we have it by bus 

company, but we do have it by garage and so by garage indicates bus company.  Yes, we do. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Fine, OK.  I am a bit of a layman at this, hence me not automatically making the 

distinction. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    That is all right.  No, that is fine. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  You do not publish that data? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    No. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Is there a reason for that? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Hold on, now I am getting myself confused.  Can you 

help me, Stuart?  We do publish garage data, do we not? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes, I believe we do.  The data is collected for every 

single incident.  It is not the only input.  We have the data from our own investigations, we have safety 

concerns raised by the public and we have data from the police.  What we aim to do is sort of integrate all of 

those things and some of the operational practices like risk audits that are carried out by the operators which 

identify points of hotspot locations.  All of that is put together to help us manage the safety of a route and 

ensure the drivers are equipped with the knowledge they need.  Where there are patterns in that data, they 

then feed into the bus safety programme and indeed to other safety programmes.  Again, this is provisional 

data from 2018, but collisions between buses and pedestrians account for 2% of the KSIs, whereas collisions 

between cars and pedestrians account for 18%, so in the broader Vision Zero context, we are looking at things 

like street design and hotspot locations, not only with respect to the bus, but also the broad safety outcomes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  That is fine.  What I was trying to get to was how deep the analysis of the bus companies 

goes because that is quite a startling statistic. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That is one of the things we are going to come on to next in terms of 

interrogating that database. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  In which case I will hold fire, Chair, and perhaps I will come in on that off the back of that 

discussion in a moment. 

 

Page 45



 

  
 

Navin Shah AM:  Chair, if I may, on this issue about connectivity of bus safety data systems, I believe TfL 

operates an Incident Reporting Information System (IRIS).  You have STATS19 and you have the Case 

Overview and Preparation Application (COPA).  Can I raise a question as to what progress has been made to 

make these three more compatible?  The issue was raised in our Transport Committee report in 2017 that there 

was logic in amalgamation of STATS19 and IRIS.  Can you comment on that, please? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Just from an overview point of view, the STATS19 data 

is far less in terms of incident data than the IRIS data, because the IRIS data is everything that is inputted to 

our system.  STATS19 would only pick up what the police report at the time of a serious incident, whereas IRIS 

is every incident that the operator has is reported in.  It is a bigger dataset.  In terms of bringing the two 

together, that is where the challenge lies.  I am going to hand over to Stuart because he has been doing a 

piece of work on the data piece specifically. 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes, absolutely.  STATS19 is a nationally-defined 

dataset, so the police collect it, according to instructions from the Department for Transport, which is set out 

in a companion document called STATS20, which sets out specifically what is and what is not to be included in 

that dataset, we, as a highway authority, are obliged to collate that information and publish it.  STATS19 

specifically excludes certain things.  For example, if there was a collision and one of the people involved in that 

collision dies more than 30 days after the incident, STATS19 excludes that as a record of a fatality.  If the 

collision is determined to be as a result of a suicide, that is excluded.  If the collision takes place off the public 

highway, for example, in a car park or on private land, that is excluded, and so on.  There is a whole series of 

nationally defined elements to STATS19 and we are obliged to report on that basis. 

 

As Claire says, IRIS is much more comprehensive.  For example, where STATS19 would require us to exclude 

the record if it was determined that the incident was as a result of natural causes, IRIS would incorporate it, 

whether or not.  IRIS is a more comprehensive database.  It is our database and we are able to go deeper into 

it.  We have looked at the scope to amalgamate the two, and to be frank, the two datasets are not compatible.  

They are different sets of data collected for different purposes by different agencies according to different 

criteria, because the police, in collecting their information, are primarily collecting information to determine 

whether a crime has been committed and to inform the coroner.  We are carrying out a related but different 

investigation to understand how we can act, how we can respond, how we can get to the root of that particular 

incident.  The risk is that by amalgamating the dataset, you make them both useless, because they are not 

directly compatible. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  If I can pick up an issue which you are reviewing as well, and that is to do with the 

correlation of hospital episode data, where there are some difficulties.  Can you elaborate on that? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes.  Hospital episode data is another dataset.  It is 

collected by the police.  On a project-by-project basis, we have attempted to follow a specific incident through 

the different datasets.  What we have found is that it is almost impossible to track the majority of incidents all 

the way through because there is no - it sounds a little bit bureaucratic - common identifier, there is no 

mandated identifier that says, “This incident that happened we are going to call ‘1B’” and that identifier will 

follow the data right the way through the entire process through the National Health Service (NHS), beyond 

into rehabilitation and so on.  What we actually find is a great deal of effort has to be put into accuracy, even 

of the STATS19 dataset, because an incident may happen, somebody may appear to only be slightly injured.  

They may then develop complications; their medical status may change or vice versa.  Even at that relatively 

limited level, there is a great deal of effort and time goes into trying to produce accurate STATS19 records and 

Page 46



 

  
 

the conditions do not really exist to enable us to track an individual all the way through the NHS and back into 

normal life beyond. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  We have these obviously very specific data systems, which are technical and complex in 

their own way.  How can this system be made more accessible as well as easier to understand for our 

stakeholders, for example, and other operators? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    We publish annually the confirmed STATS19 records 

for the whole of London for all qualifying incidents and we publish that both as a report and as a dataset.  That 

is already out there, but the data issues are complex.  One of the things that we are looking at is how we spend 

less time talking about the data as a set of technical considerations and more about the core of the issue, 

which is that real people are being killed on the roads. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  It is about safe journeys, it is about -- 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes, so we are looking, for example, at whether we 

develop a much simplified data dashboard that allows any member of the public to review how we are doing 

without needing to delve into the details of what is included in STATS19 and what is not.  At the end of last 

year we experimented with this borough by borough level and we took the data for every London borough for 

2017, which was a completed dataset at that point, and turned it into a dashboard for that borough, which 

identified what the trend was in that borough, who was being injured and in what types of incident they were 

being injured in and really tried to simplify it, because it is very easy to dive off into sort of discussions about 

the statistics and lose the point of it. 

 

That dashboard, on a borough by borough level, was something that we took a conscious decision to promote 

quite widely, so we did not just send that to road safety officers, we sent that to borough leaders, we sent it to 

elected members to say, “Look, you need to know what is going on in your borough”, and we were sort of 

emboldened by that.  We are now looking at what we might do in a more public-facing way that kind of cuts 

through the tables full of figures and the trends and so on and tries to explain the story in a more 

straightforward way. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That is good and very helpful and interesting.  The question is while the borough and local 

community leader representatives are made aware of this, are you also making, for example, local public 

transport user associations, stakeholder groups, etc, aware that this data is available in the manner that you 

mention? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    All of those borough fact sheets have been 

published on our website.  We have a lot of engagement with stakeholders across all sorts of domains and most 

of the stakeholder groups with which we have direct contact are fully aware. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Thank you.  I am going to bring in Assembly Member Pidgeon, but I wanted 

to come back on the point that Assembly Member Bacon raised re the individual bus companies and why that 

information is not readily available. 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    We publish aggregate information at garage level.  

There is a broader discussion.  What we are trying to do - there was discussion in the earlier session about a 

just culture - is find the right balance between engaging the bus companies, the bus operators, bringing them 

in, having frank discussions and encouraging them to be transparent and open with us, versus disincentivising 

Page 47



 

  
 

them to be open and transparent with us.  Our position is that the data which we put out on our website is 

accessible for the kind of information that was released yesterday by GMB.  That was based on our data, but 

we are trying to move a culture here and so we are trying to find the right balance between understanding the 

problems and working with the companies versus exposing them in a way which may not reflect the full 

circumstances that they are operating in. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Bacon, quickly. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Yes, off the back of that answer, I would like to ask Mr Kearney what his view of that 

answer is. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  I 

met Mike Brown [MVO, Commissioner, TfL] once in March 2018.  He deigned to meet with me and 

Gareth Powell [Managing Director of Surface Transport, TfL] and I asked him specifically, as a former listed 

company director and as a director of companies now involving safety and industrial, I said, “As an industrial 

manager and board member, I am obligated to know what is going on in my company.  If unsafe behaviour is 

taking place, I am obligated to do something about it or I go to jail in the jurisdiction where I am a director.  

What is preventing TfL from mandating the bus companies to be much more upfront about sharing this data?”  

He said, “If TfL did not push them, they would not report it”.  I thought to myself, “Then you have a 

management issue.  You have a corporate governance issue here”.  These companies are not malign.  These 

companies are not bad.  We have Tony Wilson here for the second time.  I do not see Metroline, Arriva or RATP 

here, but it is probably worth having a chat with them or any of these other companies. 

 

There is a corporate governance issue here and that statement from the Commissioner was chilling, that if TfL 

is incapable of getting companies - which it contracts 100% of their income - to report, we have a safety 

culture issue.  I do not feel I have it from Abellio because he is here and this is the second time I have seen 

Tony [Wilson] and also I met him at a Conference on Computational Intelligence, Robotics and Autonomous 

Systems .  It turns out Abellio does very well relative to its percentage of buses and its situation is improving.  I 

cannot say that for all of them. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Can I respond to that?  In terms of accountability for the 

safe operation of each bus company, clearly the Managing Director (MD) of that bus company takes that 

responsibility.  In terms of the safe operation of London bus operations, I take that responsibility because we 

let the contracts to the 10 operators that run those services.  It is a London Bus with TfL around on the side of 

it, operated by a private operator.  Every single injury and fatality hits me personally because that is my 

operation, as far as I see it. 

 

In terms of responsibility and accountability, Tony [Wilson] is here.  Tony came to the last session.  It was 

suggested it would be a good idea if Tony returned to talk about the progress that has happened, but when I 

meet with the bus operators, I have to say over the last two years the absolute change in culture in terms of 

sharing between MDs of what they are doing to improve safety has shifted fundamentally.  When we first 

started out on this journey perhaps three years ago, there was a safety meeting that occurred, but it was 

talking about data and trends, but there was not really any discussion around the table about what we are 

doing to change this.  What I see now are MDs from all companies, and actually we go around the table until 

every MD talks about their latest initiative, sharing what is working for them.  Do not forget, all of the bus 

operators in London are competing against each other for work in London, but when it comes to safety, it is 

fundamentally core that that needs to be given.  It should not be an issue that you do not share on.  We have 

now an established safety forum where people are coming forward and saying, “I have trialled this thing in my 

Page 48



 

  
 

operation.  I do not know how it is going to go.  It works for us”.  Another operator may say, “Well, I am not 

sure that is going to work for me”, but it is being shared. 

 

The other thing is in terms of safety innovation.  We are trying to get operators to come forward with new 

ways of doing things because we do not have all of the answers.  These groups are part of big owning groups 

that run rail and bus and there are lessons to be learnt across the industries.  As I have said before, my 

background is rail, and when I came to bus it was different, but the emphasis on safety from the operators was 

no different, it was the challenge was far more difficult.  On the rail network you have an incident, you close 

the system down, you investigate, you get to the root cause.  On the road network, it is very difficult to do 

that, so the change that we have brought in between the bus operators - who were absolutely up for this - and 

TfL is that when we have an incident, a serious incident, not necessarily just a fatality, but serious injury, we 

will go to the site within 48 hours together and we will look at that environment.  Even if the driver is not at 

fault, which in most cases they are not at fault in the case of a fatality, we look at the environment and we say, 

“What could we do here to have prevented that happening?”  That shared discussion between operator, 

authority and police is really important for me, because it is showing a different level of maturity. 

 

Safety culture is about everyone prioritising this and coming to work with that in mind.  We need to make sure, 

to Sinisa’s [Cica] point, that drivers feel that we have a safety culture shift and that they are safe to report.  

That is where we are working towards together as well, because it is important people can say if they are 

concerned about certain locations on the network or certain practices.  We rely on our operators to have that 

forum with their drivers, but also I have seen a change in the amount of information coming through TfL.  We 

get shared a lot of information from Unite the Union because we have established a relationship which is 

tripartite, so we do hear more.  I can see there is a shift in terms of the culture, but it is a really long journey.  

We have 24,000 bus drivers in London, 6 million passengers a day, 9,000 vehicles on our roads and it is 

difficult to get to every single person and really convince them that we are on that journey, but that is my role 

with the bus operators. 

 

I feel that we are on the right track here, but we have an absolutely phenomenal way to go in terms of the 

amount of work to get all of these elements fitting together.  The driver training that is just about to be 

launched is all about the driver and how we help them and they get a feeling for the challenges to our 

vulnerable road users, but we want them to have their voice about what they are concerned about and that 

gets fed back to the operators and we do something about that.  I wanted to say all of that to put a bit of 

context around what I have seen in two years in terms of shift of focus, really. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Just to bring in Assembly Member Pidgeon, the last point on this one. 

  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, I wanted to pick up the data issue and the accuracy of it.  

Are you absolutely satisfied that the data you are collecting details all collisions between buses and 

pedestrians?  I will give an example.  Last year I asked a mayoral question about incidents involving pedestrians 

using pedestrian crossings and buses.  When I got the information, you had missed off a very high-profile 

horrible case of someone who has had life-changing injuries that have been all over the press.  It was not even 

in the list.  How can we have confidence that you have all of the accurate data? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    I am aware of the error that was made in responding 

to that mayoral question.  That was a human error, but in fact the -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It was on your system, it just had not -- 

 

Page 49



 

  
 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    The incident was on the system and had been 

investigated in the normal way, but it was not included in the answer to your question and that was a human 

error. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You have confidence you have the data, it is just reading that 

data in that incident you were not? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    As Claire [Mann] has said, we rely on the operators 

to collect and provide that data.  We have come an awful long way in creating an environment within which 

they are they confident to provide that data.  We can be more confident today than we have ever been, but 

there is never any ground for complacency.  The data is done and we need to keep at this. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  We are going to move on to improving bus safety.  You have touched on 

the BSI and some other initiatives.  This section is Assembly Member Prince. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Can I go back, though, to the point raised by Assembly Member Bailey 

and Tom [Kearney] in relation to domestic driving hours?  Tony, can I ask you a question in relation to your 

own company?  There are these domestic driving hours which Tom talked about, a maximum of 14 hours on 

duty.  Do you have some similar -- 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  It is 16 hours on duty, actually. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Sixteen? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  That is the legal maximum, yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is 15 hours for a heavy goods vehicle (HGV) driver. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Yes, this is United Kingdom (UK) domestic rules.  It is 

16 hours. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I ask you what the maximum hours are in your business, please? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  We do not attempt to schedule more than about 11.  There are 

other legal limits as well that we and I know other bus companies all work well within.  Over time, that has 

migrated more towards the middle ground, to be honest, so the extremes are not there in London operations, 

apart from in times of very heavy traffic congestion or disruption. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Tony, your bus company has one of the better records.  Do you think the fact that you do 

limit it to 11 hours contributes to that? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  To an extent.  Although we do not have the final outcomes 

from the fatigue study, what we are now being challenged with is some different thinking, that length of shift 

is not one of the prime factors.  It is time of start and breaks and all the other extraneous things that are far 

more challenging actually than the length of the day.  As I say, the information that we looked at to think, 

“Were we getting all of our incidents at the end of the shift when people are either tired or they are rushing 

back to the depot because they want to finish?”  We were not, actually.  It is more in the first half of the shift 

and this is where -- 

Page 50



 

  
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  But this is for your company. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  No, we are pretty representative in the way we operate.  There 

is nothing different.  There are some geographical things, that in outer London you get fewer incidents than 

you do in central London and so you cannot do direct comparisons on companies.  We have two companies, 

one in south central, as you know, and one in outer west London and they have different collision rates.  The 

rates of passenger injury, on-bus injury, are much higher in outer London than they are in central London.  Our 

single deck buses get far more on-bus injuries than our double-deck buses.  You cannot draw direct 

comparisons easily.  You have to aggregate the data and get something to really look at it. 

 

Yes, there are far more questions actually than we are able to answer now about work patterns and length of 

day.  As I say, length of day, it may be different from a tiredness point of view, but tiredness is not fatigue.  

That is what we are starting to learn a lot more about now, but really it is very early days in the bus industry, as 

Claire was saying.  There was one piece of research in Sweden and that is about it for bus drivers.  There is 

nothing else that has ever been done. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  It is a new area that needs more investigation. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  If I can then turn to you, Sinisa, not wishing to repeat all that was said around doing the 

calculation on the number of hours you are left with after you have done a 14-hour shift, and no one actually 

mentioned about getting out of bed, having a shower and having breakfast, which would take another hour 

away.  This Metroline agreement is done in agreement with the union. 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  Yes, but unfortunately these agreements are very historical.  They have been 

done, some of them, 15 to 20 years ago.  Now when you are actually approaching the company from the union 

perspective and saying, “We feel that this is not right and we would like to have a change” they are not very 

forthcoming and willing to listen. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Has Unite approached Metroline and asked them to reduce the hours and they are 

refusing to do it?  Is that what you are saying to us? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  On many occasions, yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is quite a revelation.  Thank you, that is very useful.  All right.  Can I move on then to 

Tony in relation to the trial you did with Mobileyes, which was quite successful?  Hats off to you for doing it as 

well. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Very successful, yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That was very interesting.  How did that work for you? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  It gave us a far more measurable result than we ever probably 

anticipated.  We had just over 60 vehicles fitted with it over a good period of time, so it was about nine months 

or so that we ran the trial.  You and Caroline [Russell AM] saw it in action. 

 

Page 51



 

  
 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, very impressive. 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  It was a good sample size.  We actually increased it during the 

period to try to include another route that had a high incident rate.  We were trying to get a decent critical 

mass of incidents.  That is a horrible thing to say, but we wanted to look at it on routes that actually had a 

problem.  In the end, across the whole trial period and across those routes, we saw in excess of a 25% 

reduction in avoidable collisions, so that is where we have deemed that the driver could have done something 

different.  It is not necessarily blameworthy or non-blameworthy, it is talking about the driver’s actions as a 

professional driver, could they have taken a different set of actions; could they had done something to avoid 

the incident?  We also saw a knock-on benefit, which we did not really expect, of a slightly higher reduction in 

on-board avoidable incidents, so people on the bus, we had less incidents of people falling over and hurting 

themselves.  Yes, it is hard to argue statistically that it was not a success, that it actually had a meaningful 

outcome.  Even if it was only a 10% reduction, it would have been worth doing.  We have now decided, of our 

volition, to actually fit it across our whole fleet.  As of yesterday, we had about 100 vehicles already fitted of 

our 700. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  That is across all -- 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Across all of Abellio’s fleet in London.  We only operate in 

London.  By the end of the year we will have all of our 750 vehicles at that time fitted.  We hope, clearly, that 

we can replicate that across our whole operation.  If we get a 25% reduction, I shall be deliriously happy.  If we 

got 10%, if we got 5%, if we saved one serious incident, arguably it would be worth it.  Yes, it was a very 

successful trial. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, thank you.  It is very interesting.  Stuart, you are the director, are you not?  Why are 

you refusing to mandate this across all your bus companies, seeing as we are having a 25% reduction in injuries 

on the road, we are having even more reductions on on-board injuries?  You are going on virtue signalling 

around Vision Zero.  You have an answer here: massive reductions in injuries.  Why are you not mandating -- 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    I am buses, Stuart.  

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    I have to defer to Claire, who is the Director of Bus 

Operations. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Sorry, is that OK? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right, OK.  You said a few seconds ago that you feel every injury.  Here I can help you 

save a quarter of the injuries. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Absolutely. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Why are you not mandating it? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We are not mandating it because we launched a safety 

innovation trial last year.  Mobileye was Abellio’s trial.  That has proven a success for Abellio in a small 

proportion of the fleet.  Tony [Wilson] has taken a decision, which I support 100%, to fit it to all of the Abellio 

fleet.  We have lots of trials happening across all of the operators of various technologies and we need to make 

a decision based on the future design of the bus and the technology we are going to put on it which we can 

Page 52



 

  
 

put into the bus specifically that all buses should be built by.  The issue we have with immediately applying a 

new technology to the whole fleet is that as we keep layering on different technologies, without having the 

proper package of technologies to have the best result, we could bring in more conflicts and issues in terms of 

the technology, the burden on the driver and not really seeing the bigger picture.  The good thing about the 

BSS is the first phase of the BSS has mandated certain things.  The trial that Tony has mentioned and the 

Seeing Machines trial that is happening on RATP - and I believe GoAhead now are trialling the same kit - which 

is the tram system, once they come to a position where we are in the next phase of the BSS, which we launch 

at the end of this year to look at further technology, we can decide what the right model is we feel we need to 

be specifying because at the moment we could end up putting different systems on different vehicles and 

having too many conflicting systems. 

 

Tony is going down that line because it has worked for Abellio.  We need to look across the piece and make 

sure we have the right specifications.  We are not stopping any initiative that is going to reduce injury, but 

mandating it to every operator or into the specification, we need to do that in a proper consistent way with the 

business case underneath.  We will continue to develop and that is why things like the interior design is still in 

development.  We know there is an issue.  We need to find the right specification rather than going out and 

fitting different things and finding it did not work.  I would criticise the way we might have done things in the 

past, where people have come up with an initiative and we have stuck it on a vehicle and then realised it is 

perhaps not working.  We need a proper programme now, which we have started with the bus safety 

programme, which is evidence-based, relating to injury types, and we fit the right systems according to that.  I 

am not saying that we will not go down the line of Mobileye, but at the moment we are not ready to say it is 

Mobileye for every vehicle.  We have to be affordable as well in this. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Are you not conflating two issues here?  It is absolutely right that you do trials and so on 

about what a future bus might look like.  I was in a car myself the other day and a pedestrian was walking 

across my front.  I thought, “I will miss him by a mile”.  The car did not think so and the car stopped me, which 

is fine, but that is an expensive thing to retrofit, whereas the Mobileye product - and I am not selling Mobileye; 

there are probably similar products available - is for retrofitting and you can see a massive reduction in injuries 

and so on.   

 

Yes, of course you should take the time in deciding what a future bus should look like, whether it has 

wraparound seats, interior design and so on, but that is for a new bus.  We are talking about the thousands of 

buses that are running up and down London, injuring hundreds of people.  Here we have a way of getting 

closer to Vision Zero with very little expense, relatively speaking, retrofitting the buses that are running now.  I 

do not understand why you do not get that.   

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    I do get that but in terms of affordability in the round 

and the number of things that we have on trial, we need to make the right choices.  For example, we will 

retrofit blind spot mirrors to all the vehicles as part of the first round of the Bus Safety Standard.  We do have 

800 vehicles with intelligent speed assistance (ISA) and all new vehicles will have that because the technology 

will be ready.  Mobileye is something that has worked for Tony [Wilson] and so we will be really pleased to see 

that rolled out, but in terms of retrofitting we need to make sure that we have a proper programme from an 

affordability point of view.  If you take each thing in isolation and say, “This is quite cheap, we will stick that 

on”, there will be something else that will come along that might be good and then we say, “That is cheap, we 

will stick that on”.  We need a proper programme.  We are not ready yet to say, “That is the right system to 

retrofit”.  I work closely with Tony and will update you on how the rollout goes, but we need to look at it 

across the round. 

 

Page 53



 

  
 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Just on that quickly, Claire, has there been any detailed analysis in terms of 

the cost if you were to go down that route? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    In terms of which route? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Tony is the best to answer the question. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Rolling Mobileye out across the fleet. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    We have not investigated retrofitting Mobileye, no, not 

at this stage. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I ask you then, Tony?  Financially, is it worthwhile to save 25% of the injuries? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  We have built our business case on an assumed reduction in 

third-party claims costs, the costs from the people we injure.  It is entirely possible that you could save a load 

of incidents where there was nobody injured.  One of the realities is that we get far more people injured on the 

bus in non-collisions.  It is a bit of a punt to look at it in a strict financial sense.  We have convinced ourselves 

it will pay back, otherwise we would not have done it.  There is a moral argument, clearly, and we do not want 

to go and injure people but -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You believe on balance it is -- 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  On balance we think it is a good thing and that is why we have 

gone ahead with it.  Whether we can replicate the same results across the whole fleet is open to debate at the 

minute because we do not know.  We do not have the volume to work with.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  There you go, Claire.  It is almost zero cost, effectively.  I am sure that for a very small 

amount of money you could make it happen and save 25% of the injuries. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Let us see how the rollout goes.  As Tony mentioned, we 

need to build strong business cases for requiring different systems on the vehicles and we need a broader set 

of data to be able to do that. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  If I can come to Tom now, Tom, how have the bus safety programme and the BSS been 

received and what else should be included within them? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  Like 

I said, in one respect TfL probably has the most transparent bus safety, at least in terms of data publishing, in 

the world.  That is 100% due to the London Assembly and myself getting on their case and making them do 

the work.  That is good.  There is a lot more that needs to be done and on transparency I would argue that the 

safety performance index being published would be very important.  The route risk assessments or audits 

would be great to be published as well.  People should know what TfL deem to be risks on routes and that 

should be published on the route data information.   

 

Sinisa [Cica] pointed out that bus drivers are one of the key constituents here.  They suffer.  They have pretty 

substantial issues with collision injuries.  I have some data that shows 370 collisions last year injuring bus 

drivers, at which 38 were hospitalised with serious injuries.  This affects bus drivers too and bus drivers are a 

Page 54



 

  
 

huge source of information, a huge source of knowledge and a huge source of experience that is not being 

consulted at a detailed enough level.  There are 20 bus routes in London that do not have 24/7 toilets for bus 

drivers.  Now, in terms of safety, if you are getting behind the wheel of a bus that does not have a guaranteed 

toilet that already says it. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  We are coming on to that. 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  That 

is fine.  I was thinking that we talk about technology and we talk about all the great things when some of the 

basic things - as has been pointed out - need to be focused on. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I ask you then, Tom, what do you feel are the top three things that would improve bus 

safety? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  

Transparency.  For example, we know every quarter there is the Bus Operators’ Forum and that should be 

participated in, at least on an observation basis.  If you are talking about the safety point, a Member of the 

London Assembly or a private individual, an independent person, should attend this.  It is very important that 

safety is scrutinised on a regular basis. 

 

Secondly, accountability.  This is something that Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM] and you have been pushing on.  

TfL does not have a bus operator’s licence.  Those are owned by the 10 bus operators.  In some respects, TfL 

has no responsibility for the behaviour of any private for-profit bus that is operated on London roads.  The 

Mayor has already identified the MDs of those companies as being ultimately accountable for safety.  I want 

those MDs’ contact details or those of the Chief Safety Officer of each company listed on the TfL website so 

that when you are on a bicycle, in a car or anything, when you have an incident, you contact a person at that 

company, not at TfL.  If Mike Brown [MVO, Commissioner, TfL] says they are not getting the data or that they 

will be cut out of the loop, find some way to keep TfL in the loop. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What is the reason for contacting them directly? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  Let 

me give you a good example.  A friend of mine was nearly killed by a Go-Ahead bus and he sent in a claim or 

whatever to the TfL website where you put in the data.  Also I gave him the contact details.  Claire Mann was 

copied into this conversation as well.  He had an immediate response from the bus company when he sent it to 

the Director.  He has not had any response from TfL yet, from the website.   

 

Bus CCTV data, as Sian Berry [AM], your colleague, asked, disappears in between four and ten days.  It is 

owned by the bus companies as well.  I experienced this myself.  There was no CCTV evidence from any bus of 

my collision where I nearly died because it was over Christmas time and no one bothered to ask.  I managed to 

get it later when I bugged the companies and things like that, but that was after I filed an Independent 

Police Complaints Commission claim and stuff.   

 

The bottom line is that an individual who is seriously injured should not have to chase down people through 

Freedom of Information (FOI) requests and everything to try to get information about their near death.  That is 

the issue.  The bus company MDs have to be held responsible.  They have to be contactable.  If not them, then 

their Chief Safety Officer. 

 

Page 55



 

  
 

The last issue is corporate governance.  A stakeholder of some sort needs to be on every single bus operator 

board for London.  They can be observational.  They do not have to be at all the meetings or all the incidents 

we are talking about, market-related stuff, but they need to sit in on any meeting where safety is discussed.  

Boards would be strengthened and companies would be strengthened by having individuals who were not 

related to the bus company or TfL sat on these company boards.  That would be the cure. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  They would be ex officio, then?  They would not necessarily have voting rights? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  

People would apply for these jobs.  You could not just be off the street.  You would have real credentials.  I 

think there are a lot of people in London who would be willing to serve in these roles. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  In our report we have a graph that shows that bus collisions and customer injuries are 

going down per million miles.  Do you have any views on that sort of thing? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  I do.  

I saw that recently.  Since September 2018, TfL has been using million miles.  They use a very large 

denominator.  Prior to that, for four years or at least two years, TfL published different statistics that showed 

bus injuries increasing and collisions from bus injuries increasing.  When you divide something by a million 

miles it automatically is going to reduce things, especially over time.  The Boeing 737 Max plane got safer after 

it crashed in Indonesia on the basis of that logic.  The more a thing travels, the more you can divide it and the 

incidents go down.  This is a tricky and not very honest way.  Dividing it by a million miles is not an even or fair 

way to do it.  Do it the way that it was done up until June 2018.  Show the actual numbers.  That is the 

important thing. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What did the actual numbers show? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  An 

increase every year since 2014.  Falls in buses were slightly higher, London buses customer injuries in total 

were higher and London bus collisions were going up.  But when you divide it by a million miles, like magic it 

just goes down.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  We are not getting very near to Vision Zero, are we? 

 

Tom Kearney (Founder, #LondonBusWatch, Transparency & Corporate Governance Campaign):  Well, 

you do, but you do it by changing the denominator.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Just moving on to some of the issues that both Sinisa [Cica] and 

Tony [Wilson] mentioned, bus drivers, who are crucial in all of this, we are going to look at how we engage 

them.  We will move on to Assembly Member Russell.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you, Chair.  We are looking specifically at supporting bus drivers.  In our report, 

Driven to Distraction, under recommendation 5 there were a lot of things around the working environment that 

operators can do to reduce the number of things that distract drivers and make it harder for them to deliver a 

safe service.  These are things like everyday maintenance issues, things like mirrors being knocked off or being 

badly positioned and the provision of toilets.  We asked for a review of radio contact procedures and also a 

review of best practice for bus infrastructure and design, which also was about how the street was designed, 

Page 56



 

  
 

the bus lanes and everything else, where the parking bays were in relation to bus routes.  That was an attempt 

to listen to some of the stuff that drivers told us when they came into our Committee.   

 

As a first question, and this is for everyone but perhaps Sinisa could start, how has TfL consulted with bus 

drivers on the changes being made to improve bus safety? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  To my knowledge, other than the tripartite meetings that we are holding 

with TfL, I do not see much consultation.  Even there, the problem that we have seen from Unite’s point of 

view is that it is a tick box exercise.  You put some ideas forward.  We do not feel those ideas are actually taken 

on board.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Is that taken on board by the bus companies, by TfL or by both? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  By both, in my opinion. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Is there an example of -- 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  For example, we were talking about standardising bus checks, which are very 

important in the morning.  You have all these different companies.  Some are giving you seven minutes.  The 

others give you 10.  Some give 15 minutes.  This should be driven by TfL.  TfL should be contractually asking 

the companies to have the same safe amount of time to check a bus before we take the bus out.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Does anyone else -- 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  Yes, that could happen.  Clearly TfL could mandate our whole 

operating lives if they liked.  You could go to any extreme.  But each operator will have its own operator’s 

licences and those maintenance arrangements are lodged with the Traffic Commission and are accepted as 

fundamental to maintaining that operator’s licence.  Certainly what we have experienced - and it is no different 

anywhere else - is that we are now far more attuned to the condition of the bus when it goes out in the 

morning and we are far more attuned to the driver’s responsibilities.  The Traffic Commission will see the driver 

as the most important part of the maintenance system.  The first use check that is done by the driver in the 

morning is the thing that is done every day.  Engineers only see the bus every four or six weeks.  The driver is 

the key to that.   

 

We are now far clearer of what those responsibilities are and what the driver needs to do and the drivers are 

clearer about their responsibility for that, but that sits with the operators under the operator’s licensing 

framework and always should do.  If anybody wants to look at our YouTube video, we have a YouTube video 

out there that has had tens of thousands of hits on our first use check process.  I am not saying everybody has 

to do it the same way but it is a good example.  Those sorts of things are out there and people can follow 

them. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Are all the companies and all the operators running things in the way that you run 

those checks? 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  They do not necessarily run them in the same way as us but 

they will all have their same responsibilities under the operator’s licence.  That is the framework we operate in.  

If somebody wants to change the framework that is fine but that is the way it is done. 

 

Page 57



 

  
 

Caroline Russell AM:  Could I let Sinisa come back? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  That is just the issue.  We should be using best practice rather than giving 

people options to do whatever is cost-effective for them.  I actually feel that the companies, while I have said 

that we are not being listened to, are more forthcoming and listening in regard to that to Unite, rather than 

TfL. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Could I have Claire come in there as well?  Thank you, Sinisa. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Yes.  Just on the engagement with drivers, clearly it is 

very difficult for TfL to engage with each individual operating company’s union representatives, hence the 

tripartite set-up.  We have representatives from Unite who are there to talk on behalf of drivers across London, 

we have two or three bus operator representatives that attend the meeting, and then myself and a couple of 

colleagues from TfL.  The idea of that meeting is to ensure that anything that affects all drivers is brought 

there by Unite to say, “We are really concerned about this.  What are we going to do about it?”  I need the 

operators obviously to give their views on the issue raised.  Where an issue is raised and it is a specific operator, 

I ask Unite for specifics so I can go and challenge them if it is not adequate.   

 

When it comes to introducing the bus safety programme and new activity like the bus safety standard and the 

fatigue research, TfL have sat down separately with Unite representatives from the tripartite because that is 

the appropriate way to do it, to take them through the programme, the bus safety standard, taking the Unite 

representatives through what was in the standard, inviting them to the launch, taking them through the 

fatigue research and inviting views on the questions that we were going to ask.  Unite was involved in exactly 

what we put into the driver training in terms of the things they were concerned about from members.  We 

involved Unite in the security training briefing.  We put that together and delivered it over the last year, which 

is something Unite brought to our attention and we agreed that it is was not good enough.  We really took on 

board the suggestions from Unite and put that into our training course. 

 

Beyond that, the relationship needs to be between the bus operating company and their employees.  For 

anything we are mandating that is a new thing that applies to operators, it is right that we speak to Unite at 

tripartite and explain what it is that we are trying to achieve.  Taking individual safety initiatives forward needs 

to be done by the individual operating companies because it is their remit to do so.   

 

In some of the things Sinisa [Cica] mentioned around best practice, he is absolutely right: we need to take the 

best and say, “Why not try it this way?”  One of the things that we did is that one of the operators had a good 

process for managing people who had been spat at.  Spit kits were something that were either given as an 

individual issue or put on a bus and it was a bit haphazard.  Because the operators that did that well put it on 

the vehicle, we mandated that that happened across the fleet.  Where we see something that everyone should 

be doing because it is going to be better for the driver, we will mandate that, but as Tony [Wilson] says, there 

are areas where the operator, within their licence, needs to make those choices.  If through any research or 

repeat issues we find that there is a problem with a particular operator, that is my responsibility to pick up with 

them and I will.   

 

I wanted to give you a bit more around the things we do engage on but what I expect the operators to do as 

well.   

 

Page 58



 

  
 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  I should say now that we get measured in many, many 

different ways by TfL.  We talked earlier on about data.  We get measured on everything.  I think they know my 

inside leg measurement, actually.   

 

One of the things that has happened recently is that there has been a longstanding engineering quality 

monitoring mechanism where TfL get a third party in to check a good proportion of our buses.  That has been 

amended very recently to ramp up attention on the sort of defects that really irritate drivers.  Inevitably, the 

scores will slightly rise over the next few months and then hopefully we will all start addressing them more 

readily.  That is directly directed at things that are not quite as obvious.  They are not safety-critical but they 

will irritate drivers and annoy drivers. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You say they may not be safety-critical but if you have a collection of several minor 

issues -- 

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  In the broadest sense -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is what so important about those checks before the bus goes out because one 

thing not working properly might be the distracting thing that causes someone to be involved in a collision.   

 

Tony Wilson (Managing Director, Abellio):  There has been a longstanding discussion point about rattling 

windows.  What impact does a rattling window have on a driver?  Well, they get very irritated over time. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Can I move us on a bit?  We have heard about the Destination Zero safety training and 

I wondered what feedback there has been from drivers on the Destination Zero training.   

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  From Unite, we believe that this has been tailored mostly for novice bus 

drivers, someone who is doing the test rather than people who have been driving for many years.  We do not 

feel we have been consulted on that as much as we could.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  How do you think it could be improved? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  It could be improved by taking the views that my colleague, John Murphy 

[Regional Officer, Unite], has given to TfL in tripartite meetings, which we do not feel have been included.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Claire, do you want to -- 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    The first thing to say is that it only started last week.  I 

do not have any driver feedback yet.  Obviously that is Unite’s feedback from having attended the pre-briefing 

sessions and put the virtual reality goggles on and so on.  Some of the feedback that came from John there 

was that he did not want the training to make the driver feel like it was their responsibility, the safety of 

London’s roads.  That is absolutely critical.  The idea of the training is to show that everyone has a part to play 

but because it is for drivers it is obviously focusing on the driver’s part to play in that.  The delivery of the 

training will be done by the bus operating companies and we will audit and manage that.  The team that put 

the training package together will go out and sit in and observe how the training is delivered.  We need to 

make sure the messaging is key because that is the point.  It needs to be landed right so that people 

understand it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is not about blame; it is about making sure that everything is as safe as possible. 

Page 59



 

  
 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    It is about raising awareness.  Drivers know that there 

are issues with cyclists and so on but sometimes really putting yourself in that zone is very powerful.  We are 

absolutely happy for you to come and have a look at the training.  If you put the headset on and feel what it is 

like to be a bus driver when you do not know what is going to come around the corner next, or a cyclist when a 

bus comes close to you, all those issues are being dealt with.  It is powerful.  I do not drive a bus and so 

obviously I cannot put myself in that position. 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  We are always in favour of any training.  That is always Unite’s stance.  We 

want our drivers to be trained.  We want repeated trainings for those people who have been driving for many 

years, even those who do not have any incidents, because that will make sure to prevent future incidents, but 

it is absolutely true that drivers feel they are blamed for everything.  There is no mechanism for a driver to go 

back and say, “We have a problem with this.  Can anyone help us with this issue or that issue?”  There is 

nothing there, other than when something happens, putting down the report and then waiting to see what the 

company’s response is going to be.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Sorry, are you saying that if drivers are reporting issues it does not feel like those are 

being picked up? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  How are these measured?  Is there a measure of issues that get reported and how they 

are dealt with?  Is that reported back to TfL?  If we are talking about trying to make the bus system safer, if we 

are hearing that bus drivers are saying that they are feeling some stuff is being reported but is not being acted 

on, how does that filter through both to the operators and to TfL? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    I mentioned the assurance programme that our health 

and safety team conduct.  Within that programme they are, as I said, talking to drivers, talking to garage 

managers and talking to guys booking drivers on about some of the issues that are happening.  We do not 

have a systematic report that comes in saying, “These things were raised and not dealt with”, because we 

would not know unless we were told, but through the assurance programme we ask questions about how 

safety-related issues are reported and if we have any concerns about that, it is dealt with immediately between 

the safety manager and the garage manager in that assurance visit. 

 

What I will reiterate, really, is that because our relationship with the drivers is through tripartite, because it is 

through the union and we do not employ the drivers, if there are any systematic issues that are not getting 

dealt with by operators we need to be advised so that we can pick that up with the individual operator.  What 

we do know is that in the Hello London customer experience training that was rolled out over the last two 

years, every time there was a session there was a board where drivers could write down what their real issues 

were in terms of the whole role of being a driver.  Every single one of those was fed back to the operators 

concerned through Steps, who were the people running the course.  We wanted to see what progress had been 

made on those.  We have shifted emphasis to say that we will get feedback and we will put it back to the 

operators.  We need to keep that loop going, but it really is up to the operators to ensure those processes are 

in place.  That is what our assurance system does.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, but if you are hearing stuff from the union you are checking back with the 

operators? 

 

Page 60



 

  
 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Yes, absolutely.  Absolutely, yes.  That is our job to do 

that because we cannot ignore it and obviously we would not. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  And that is reported in TfL Board papers or -- 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    It would come through the tripartite meetings.  If there 

is a specific issue, if there is a road danger issue, a junction or an issue with a layout that we are concerned 

about, we have a process where the operator can feed that into our control centre and we can deal with that.  

If we get told through Unite that these things are getting fed in but nothing is happening we will deal with 

them, but I have not had that yet.  That has not come to me.  If that is an issue, we need to pick it up.  

Obviously the union need to raise those specifics. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK.  I am sure if things get raised and not dealt with. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Yes.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The toilet provision was one of the really serious issues that we heard about in the 

roundtable.  It is absolutely shocking that there were routes that had no toilets.  Particularly we heard from bus 

drivers who menstruate who said how difficult it was when they were on their period.  We gather that every 

route was due to have a toilet by 2017 and that they would be open all hours by 2018.  Is that now the case? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    The programme for the 42 bus routes that did not have 

a toilet 24/7 is due for completion in July 2019, which is earlier than the original date, which was May 2020.  

We have brought that date forward.  Where we are at the moment is we have half of those facilities in, 26, and 

we have the remainder to do in the next couple of months.  It is absolutely despicable that a driver cannot use 

a toilet.  I have to say I did not, until I came into buses, realise that this was the situation, but having found 

that it is the situation we are doing what we can to address it.   

 

The Mayor has helped us with this in terms of funding but that is not where the challenge is.  The challenge is 

locating the toilet in the right location and getting borough support for that, obviously local community 

support for it, and making sure that utilities are available.  There are about four to six locations where we are 

really struggling to get the toilet where we need it to go so we are having to look at alternatives that may not 

be exactly where we want. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Sorry, people are refusing toilets to go in particular areas? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Yes, the local community, because they do not want a 

toilet near their house.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  It was on the news in Bromley.  Was this what you wanted to come in on?  I 

think it was specific to your constituency.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Yes, it certainly was.  Biggin Hill was one of the ones where TfL got a bit of a mauling.  

All I was going to ask you is what you are doing differently as a result of the experience you had there.   

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    In Biggin Hill, the engagement with the borough was 

accepted as done but the local -- 

 

Page 61



 

  
 

Gareth Bacon AM:  No, it was not. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    OK. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  It was not accepted by the borough.   

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Right.  The local community was not given any notice, 

which was an error, and the approach to working with the borough to deliver has changed as a result of what 

happened at Biggin Hill.  The issue we have is that we want to make the bus network as accessible as possible 

and bus routes do not start and end in bus garages.  If they did life would be simple but they do not and we 

really are trying our hardest to work with authorities.  We are working with the fire brigade about putting 

something outside a fire station in Lambeth.  We are doing what we can to get everyone on board with the 

issue because everyone accepts this is a basic human need but it is very challenging.  We have definitely learnt 

lessons from Biggin Hill but we will have further challenges to come.  What we need to do is find alternative 

options.  Where we can share facilities between operators, we are doing that, but in many of these locations it 

is very difficult.  We have a plan.  We are on track to deliver the majority by the end of July [2019] but there 

are a couple of different ones and we are looking for alternative locations for those. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Just on that, Claire, because I remember seeing that news clip, the main 

thing, going back to Assembly Member Bacon’s point, is that the residents were not informed.  To open your 

window and then see this -- 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    It was not attractive. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  It was not.  It looked like a -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  It was actually worse than that, Chair, because not only were they not informed, TfL 

claimed that they were.  The local ward councillors went out and knocked on every single door and not one of 

them had had anything.  It was a real public relations disaster from TfL because they were treated in a very 

offhand way.  The only good thing that came out of it was that TfL moved relatively speedily to get rid of it.  A 

month after it was installed, it was gone and the grass verge was reinstalled.  Unfortunately, it sabotaged what 

was meant to be a decent project that for people who really need it, ie bus drivers.  The things are not 

designed aesthetically to be put in a residential area anyway.  It was nicknamed the ‘Turdis’ locally because it 

had a strong resemblance to the Tardis.   

 

One question I was going to ask about that was that Julia Lopez, the Member of Parliament for Hornchurch 

and Upminster, wrote to TfL and did ask why these things could not be doubling up as a disabled loo.  I get 

that there is a key-card or something to get into them.  Certainly I know there is a security lock on it because I 

went to look at the one in Biggin Hill.  That was refused.  Is there any particular reason why? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    I am afraid I do not know because the Project Director 

for delivering these will have responded to that. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Are you able to come back to us on that? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Yes, absolutely.   

 

Page 62



 

  
 

Caroline Russell AM:  There are Assembly Members for all areas around London and so if there are particular 

areas where you are having trouble, I am sure Assembly Members would be helpful in trying to get the local 

community on board because it is absolutely fundamental that bus drivers have access to toilets. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    That would be very welcome. 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  If I could quickly add one more thing, the problem that we are also facing is 

that there are toilets around that we could use.  Most Tube stations have toilets that a bus driver could use, 

but we are refused entry.  That is perhaps something that TfL could actually help us with. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Sorry, refused entry to Tube stations? 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  Tube stations, yes.   

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    Staff toilets, it should be. 

 

Sinisa Cica (Convener, Unite):  There are bus stands outside Tube stations and when you try to access 

toilets there they will refuse you.  The management of those Tube stations will refuse you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  It seems to me, Chair, that is a rather easy fix. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Yes.   

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    I can respond to that because that is not the agreement 

between buses and London Underground.  They are to open up their facilities.  The issue we have - it comes 

up regularly and every time it comes up I put one of my managers on it to sort it out - is locally how people 

treat each other at that location on the day that someone goes to access the toilet.  That is where it is falling 

down.  We have to sort that out.  Management have agreed and of course it makes absolute sense.  Why would 

we not use our facilities for bus drivers?  We need to make sure that every time we have a new issue we resolve 

it.  That is something that we are currently doing.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Management have agreed.  Has that been communicated to all layers of 

staff? 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    The Director of Stations in London Underground has 

said, “Yes, of course you can use the facilities”.  Where we can, we do.  Where we have problems, we deal with 

that with the local management to get that unblocked.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  No pun intended. 

 

Claire Mann (Director of Bus Operations, TfL):    It is about capacity.  Not wishing to go back to that pun, 

it is about some locations being heavily used and we need to make sure we have the right facilities for all of 

the drivers.  If it means we need to put in more facilities for bus drivers, we should do. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  You should do.  OK, great.  Just moving on to our last section - apologies, 

we have run quite long - it is coming back to the incident report and investigation.   

 

Page 63



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You have already set out, Claire, how you have improved 

incident reporting and perhaps we might get more detail of that in writing because we are short of time, but 

the one area we have not touched on this morning and which I am very conscious of is what support victims 

are getting who are injured in incidents involving buses, and their families.  We have the Sarah Hope Line and 

obviously Sarah over there listening in.  I am wondering whether you can say, at high level, what additional 

support you are putting in there.  Maybe we can get more detail in writing as well afterwards. 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    I wonder if I might take that, with the Chair’s 

permission. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, sure.   

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    This is an area which we are very aware of.  We 

convened a session earlier this year with victims of road collisions, particularly via some of the third sector 

organisations like Brake and RoadPeace, to bring those people together.  We brought them together with the 

Mayor, the Deputy Mayor for Transport, the Commissioner, Mike Brown MVO, and Gareth Powell [Managing 

Director of Surface Transport, TfL].  Those people spent a significant amount of time with those people 

hearing their stories, understanding where things are falling down.  Out of that we have convened some work 

internally to look at how we, TfL, can help drive improvement across the piece.  We have continued to liaise 

with those organisations, with Sarah and so on, in helping shape that.   

 

We recognise that in the first instance of a collision taking place, we are not the first responder.  The police 

and the ambulance service are the first responders.  That person will then be treated and they will make their 

way through the NHS system.  We may change junction layouts and so on.  The picture that has emerged is 

that there is a multiplicity of agencies involved at different points and that some of those people are falling 

between the cracks in terms of the treatment they receive.  Some of those people are not receiving information 

about the incident that they were involved in.   

 

There is a broader wrap around that that the victim of a road collision is not treated in the same way as a victim 

of violent crime, is not accorded the same rights and support.  What we have recognised is that victims are not 

getting the support they require.  They are not even necessarily getting the support that is available.  Although 

this is a multiagency piece and TfL only has an element of this, we are now looking at how we can use our 

good offices and our influence with other agencies to help improve that experience for the victim.  We have 

identified a number of areas where we want to make improvements and we have now convened a small project 

group to start to move forward on those. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Is there an action plan of things you are taking forward that 

we could see? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    There is no action plan yet.  We have been through a 

rapid development process that has taken about four weeks to develop a number of areas in which we know 

we need to develop better actions. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Could we see that list of the areas you are working on?  Could 

you set that out in a letter to us so that we could understand? 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes. 

 

Page 64



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Just to get a feel because it is such an important area and it 

sounds like you are doing some great work there.  It would be good for us to get more of a feel for some of the 

detail. 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    Yes, I would be happy to write to you on that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Wonderful, and also whether you could pick up in that the 

issue of whether there has been any progress on extending the brief of the Victims’ Commissioner for London 

to include victims of road crime and road collision. 

 

Stuart Reid (Interim Director of Vision Zero, TfL):    We will include that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair):  Great.  Thank you all very much.  Apologies that we have gone over time.  I 

would like to thank our guests again, Claire Mann, Stuart Reid, Sinisa Cica, Tony Wilson and Tom Kearney, for 

your discussion and contributions this afternoon.   

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 10 July 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 
meetings of the Committee, and additional correspondence received. 
 
 
Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 15 May 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

9. Tram and Bus Safety in London  

The following further information was requested: 

 List of Members of the Sandilands Incident Review 

Board;  

 Work done by TfL on risk associated with road users, 

in particular cyclists, and tram tracks; and 

 Detail on the relationship between speed, use of the 

hazard brake and the effect on passengers in trams. 

 Safety Performance Indicator data for the bus 

network over the preceding 12 months; 

 What work has been done by TfL to assess whether 

bus driver toilets being added to those 42 bus routes 

that did not previously had one, could be made 

available to members of the public who were 

disabled; 

 A list of areas identified for improvement in accident 

reporting; and  

 Progress made towards increasing the remit of the 

Victims’ Commissioner to include victims of road 

crimes and collisions. 

 

 

In progress.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
In progress.   

 

 

Director of 

Health Safety 

and 

Environment, 

Transport for 

London (TfL) 

 

 

 
Director of Bus 

Operations, TfL 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 14 March 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. Commissioner of Transport for London 

During the course of the discussion, the Commissioner 

agreed to the following actions: 

 To provide a written response to the 

recommendations from the Committee’s report, 

Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track;  

 To send the Committee a sample of the daily update 

emails from the Commissioner to the Mayor; 

 To arrange a visit with Florence Eshalomi AM to the 

Tulse Hill Gyratory;  

 To write on the detail behind recent changes to the 

TfL scorecards, to include the measures around 

measuring trip distances and road traffic volumes; 

 To work with the Committee to arrange a visit to see 

TfL’s bus safety training; 

 To provide more detail on TfL’s work regarding 

metroisation of rail services into Moorgate station; 

 To provide detail of any discussions or work 

undertaken with the Department for Transport on 

establishing a national database of taxi and public 

hire vehicle drivers; 

 To share the analysis undertaken by TfL around the 

decision to reduce the working life of London taxi 

cabs, to include equalities assessments, numbers of 

taxis affected, compensation and air quality impacts; 

 To arrange a meeting with Members to discuss 

issues relating to the taxi and private hire vehicle 

raised at the meeting; 

 To provide regular updates to Members on progress 

being made in reviewing bus routes in outer London, 

including those around hospitals; 

 To write on the rationale behind allowing the 

responsive bus trial in Sutton to use Euro 6 ‘Vito’ 

vehicles; and 

 To provide detail on work being undertaken on 

express and orbital bus routes, following a 

recommendation by the Committee. 

 

 

 

In progress.  Officers 

followed up on 

26 June 2019. 

 

Commissioner, 

TfL 

Page 68



        

7. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for the Committee’s first investigation of the 

2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram safety. 

 

 

Complete.  See 

Agenda Item 6. 

 

Chair 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

The Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach 

The Committee requested the following information in 

writing: 

 A copy of the report produced by TfL on the 

floating bus stops trial;  

 Information on the Healthy Streets Portfolio 

Board, including copies of meeting notes, terms 

of reference and ways of working; 

 Detail setting out the scope and arrangements 

for the grant scheme TfL intend to launch in 

2019 for community projects supporting cycling 

and walking; and 

 A copy of the report that will sit alongside the 

online strategic walking tool being made 

available to London Boroughs once it has been 

prepared in early 2019. 

 

 

Complete.  A response 

was received on 

28 May 2019 and is 

attached as 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch (LTW) 

agreed to provide the Committee with further details of 

the timeline agreed with TfL for implementing LTW’s 

recommendations on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

 

 

In progress. Officers 

requested an update 

on 29 April 2019. 

 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 69



        

3. Additional Correspondence 
 
3.1 The following letters were received by the Chair of the Committee since its last meeting: 

 A letter from the Secretary of State for Transport, Chris Grayling, regarding Delay Repay 15 

on the south eastern rail franchise, attached at Appendix 2. 

 A letter from the Andrew Bailey, Chief Executive of the Financial Conduct Authority 

regarding TfL listed securities and the announcement of the delay to Crossrail, attached at 

Appendix 3.  

 A letter from Heidi Alexander, Deputy Mayor for Transport, regarding the pausing of the 

Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf Bridge project, attached at Appendix 4. 

 
 
4. Legal Implications  
 
4.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – Healthy Streets letter, 28 May 2019 

Appendix 2 - Letter from the Secretary of State for Transport, 21 May 2019 

Appendix 3 - Letter from Chief Executive of the Financial Conduct Authority, 22 May 2019 

Appendix 4 - Letter from Deputy Mayor for Transport dated, 21 June 2019 

 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5525 

E-mail:   david.pealing@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 70

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


MAYOR OF LONDON

Florence Eshalomi AM Our tel: MGLA1 2031 9-7722
Chair of the London Assembly Transport
Committee
City Hall Date: 28 MAY Z019The Queen’s Walk
London SEJ 2M

jk1
Thank you for the Transport Committee’s letter of 12 March about your investigation into Healthy
Streets. I am sorry for the delay in responding. I am pleased that the committee recognises the
ambitious targets I have set to get more people walking, cycling and using public transport.

I am determined to help every Condoner live an active and healthy life and reduce the impacts of
traffic dominance in the capital. As you know, I have committed record levels of investment into
cycling and active travel and see this as critical to the success of my Transport Strategy. I have set
out below how Transport for London (TfL) and I are addressing the recommendations you make in
the report.

TIL should improve its reporting on Healthy Streets schemes by ensuring that
comprehensive details about progress, timelines and budgets are shared for individual
schemes on a quarterly basis

TfL provides quarterly performance reports to the Programme and Investment Committee of the
IlL Board by way of a quarterly Investment Programme Report (IPR). This includes information on
key Healthy Streets schemes such as financial and delivery progress updates. The IPR is available to
the public — the latest version for 2018/1 9 Quarter 4 can be found on TfL’s website at: https://
tfLqov. u k/corporate/publicatiQns-a nd -[eports/.

Further updates will be available on 23 October 2019 (Qi 19/20) and 18 December 2019 (Q2
19/20).

In addition, the Healthy Streets Check for Designers measure has been included, from 201 8/1 9, in
the TfL Scorecard to ensure that the required management focus on improving walking, cycling
and public transport opportunities across the capital are taken. An account of the programme is
due to be presented at the Customer Service and Operational Performance Panel of the TfL Board.

Ill should write to the committee in six months’ time to provide an update on how the
Healthy Streets Approach is being embedded throughout IlL via initiatives such as
training and performance targets

IlL is committed to further embedding the Healthy Streets approach throughout their investment
programme. I am happy to write to you in autumn 2019 with an update on progress.

City Hall, London, SEJ 2AA • mayorIondon.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000

Appendix 1

Page 71



MAYOR OF LONDON

TIL already includes the Healthy Streets Check for Designers measure in their IlL Scorecard to
ensure that the required management focus on improving walking, cycling and public transport
opportunities across the capital are taken. TIL is taking action to achieve this, including:

• Introducing mandatory training courses led by Surface Transport senior managers to further.
educate sponsors and designers on how to maximise the uplift in Healthy Streets Check
scores.

• Revising the criteria for projects to be included in the Check so that we are maximising the
opportunities to influence projects with the Healthy Streets approach. Previously, only
projects with a significant impact on Healthy Streets and with an expected spend above
£200k were included.

• Improved internal communications to engineers, designers and sponsors on how to raise
Healthy Streets scores through a more holistic design approach.

We recommend that you and IlL challenge the boroughs to propose and develop high
quality Healthy Streets schemes. Funding should not be provided to schemes that do not
adequately meet the Healthy Streets objectives. TIL should work with boroughs, where
necessary, to bring schemes up to a higher standard

I agree that high-quality borough schemes are essential to the success of the Healthy Streets
approach. TfL has adopted a range of actions to ensure that boroughs are proposing and delivering
high-quality schemes. This includes the following actions:

Cycle Quality Criteria

All new Cycleways in London will have to satisfy six new quality criteria in order to receive funding
from TIL.

The aim is that where traffic levels are high, Cycleways will either need to reduce traffic below the
new acceptable threshold or provide segregation.

The criteria are:

1. Total volume of motor traffic — the design of new Cycleways should only mix people
cycling with motorised traffic where there are fewer than 500 motor vehicles per hour (vph) at
peak times, and preferably fewer than 200vph.

2. Speed of motor traffic — the design of new Cycleways should only mix people cycling with
motorised traffic where there is a 20mph speed limit and a high level of driver compliance.

3. Appropriate width for cycling — the design of new Cycleways should provide sufficient
width for people to cycle comfortably.

4. Kerbside activity has a minimal impact on people cycling — the design of new
Cycleways should enable people cycling to comfortably pass kerbside activity such as parking
and loading.

5. Interaction between heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) and people cycling minimised —

new routes should provide sufficient space for cycling relative to the volume of HGVs.

6. Collision risk between people cycling and turning vehicles minimised —junctions on
new routes should give cyclists time and space to pass through comfortably.

City Hall, London, SEJ 2AA • mayorIondon.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000
Page 72



MAYOR OF LONDON

The criteria will be included in an update to the 207 5 London Cycle Design Standards, which will be
published later in the 201 9/20 financial year.

TfL will work with boroughs over the next five years to deliver more than 450km (280 miles) of new
cycle routes. By using these revised criteria and focusing on a pipeline of 25 new cycle routes with
the greatest potential for growth of cycling, we will ensure higher-quality Cycleways across the
Transport for London Route Network (TLRN) and borough networks.

Local Implementation Plans (LIP) 3 guidance

The boroughs are the experts on their own individual local areas and have the necessary local
knowledge to tailor their approach to making walking and cycling more accessible, efficient and
sustainable.

Currently all LIPs must explain how meeting the plan’s objectives will contribute to my Transport
Strategy outcomes, such as Healthy Streets, and are used to assess acceptability of schemes before
funding is released.

Liveable Neighbourhoods assessment criteria

Liveable Neighbourhoods is a new programme I have launched to support the aims of the Healthy
Streets approach by funding boroughs to reduce car trips and improve neighbourhoods for walking,
cycling and public transport.

A robust assessment process exists within Liveable Neighbourhoods and only high-quality bids
receive funding. The process scores the proposed bids submitted by boroughs against Healthy
Streets outcomes:

• Funding approval is required at three separate stages for each project to ensure continuous
alignment to the programme and Healthy Streets objectives as well as two technical review
points.

• TfL holds regular meetings with borough officers to ensure that schemes teach the desired
standards for the Healthy Streets approach. This can also be a chance to seek opportunities
where there is potential to make projects more ambitious. (e.g. the design of Greenwich
Town Centre was increased in scope to link the proposed cycle network to Cycle
Superhighway 4)

TIL also undertakes meetings with every borough in London to help with the planning and
submission process. If boroughs are unsuccessful in applying for feasibility funding, a detailed
letter setting out the reasons is sent, followed by an offer of a meeting. The aim is to help
boroughs improve and shape their re-submissions so that they better aligned with the Healthy
Streets objectives.

We recommend Ill’s Safer Junctions Programme expands to include junctions in areas
of high walking and cycling potential or that pedestrians and cyclists avoid because they
perceive them to be too dangerous to use

My Safer Junctions programme is already more than double the size of the previous Mayor’s
junction programme. I want junctions to be made safer as quickly as possible, and that is why I
instructed TfL to accelerate the programme so that 41 are complete by 2020. Following the

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000
Page 73



MAYOR OF LONDON

recently completed improvements at Euston Road / Judd Street, 29 junctions have been
completed so far, with the remaining 44 in the design or construction stage.

As you will be aware, in London and across the UK, road safety infrastructure schemes traditionally
have been prioritised on the basis of a history of fatal and serious injury collisions in an area. I
agree with you that our approach also needs to take account areas where collisions are rare
because people avoid walking or cycling due to safety concerns. That is why my Vision Zero action
plan explains how TfL will adopt a road danger reduction approach. This new approach aims to
proactively tackle danger at the source, recognising that collisions are not the only measurement of
danger.

This approach will require a new method for prioritising investment which goes beyond simply
targeting locations of historic casualties. TfL has therefore recently commissioned work to develop
a methodology for rating and mapping road danger. This will take into account current and future
walking and cycling potential, levels of exposure to road danger alongside collision data. This work
is expected to be completed later this year. It will be used in a mapping tool to help TfL and the
boroughs prioritise investment in road danger reduction, and to better target communications,
enforcement, stakeholder engagement and outreach work. Once complete, the road danger tool
will also be used to help identify junction locations that present the greatest danger to pedestrians
and cyclists, to inform any future expansion of the Safer Junctions programme.

You will also be aware that the future development of the cycle network is being shaped by the
findings of the Strategic Cycling Analysis, ensuring that investment in new strategic routes is
targeted at the highest levels of current and potential cycling demand. This evidence-led approach
is already ensuring that new walking and cycling schemes are located to encourage as many new
people as possible to walk and cycle, as well as making it safer for those who already do.
Consultation on the first of these new routes (Hackney to the Isle of Dogs) has already
commenced, with consultation on the second (Camden to Tottenham Hale) due to start later this
year.

TIL needs to ensure that its Healthy Streets schemes are of a high enough quality to
support 2041 Mayoral targets. TIL should write to the Committee outlining its approach
to applying the Healthy Streets indicators to all projects already in development, and its
approach to reviewing schemes after their completion

I will include a response to this recommendation within my update to recommendation 2 in autumn
2079.

TIL needs to ensure that the new single brand cycle routes are clearly signposted and
consistently high-quality, ensuring all Londoners are confident to use them.

The new brand for London’s cycle network will be simple, inclusive and easy for all Londoners to
use. TfL will continue to offer clear signposting and other wayfinding on all cycle routes, and new
routes delivered under this branding will be designed in line with new quality criteria, helping
ensure a consistent level of quality for Londoners using the unified cycle network.

TfL should provide further information to the Committee on its plans to retrospectively
assess the quality of cycle infrastructure already in place across the capital and outline
plans to address issues identified

While its principal focus is on delivering new, high-quality cycling infrastructure in the places where
it is most needed, TfL remains committed to taking opportunities to improve the existing cycle

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • Iondon.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000
Page 74



MAYOR OF LONDON

network where possible. TIL is already assessing all routes delivered through the Cycle
Superhighway, Quietway, Central London Grid and Mini-Holland programmes against the quality
criteria. While the expectation is that most sections of these existing routes will meet the criteria,
we know that there will be sections of routes which do not. TfL will use a consistent process to
agree the next steps for these routes on a case-by-case basis.

We recommend that TIL further develops its practices around active consultation and
community engagement. TIL needs to ensure these practices are embedded across the
organisation and that best practice is shared with boroughs

Last year, TIL began a review of how its consultation and engagement practices were working. To
ensure they were set up in the best possible way, consultation and local engagement became part
of the same team. In addition, new processes and practices were developed to transform the way
local communities, partners and stakeholders are engaged with.

The new way of working recognises the importance of engagement and places a greater emphasis
on local engagement either in advance of, or potentially instead of, formal consultation.
Walking and cycling improvements has been a particular area of focus. From January to March this
year, TfL held an engagement period on four new cycle routes, being developed in partnership with
seven London boroughs. The aim was to better understand local people’s views on plans and help
shape decision-making. TIL officers met local stakeholders, including cycling groups and residents’
associations. They also provided information on the TfL website, and encouraged people to
respond with their views. This engagement was promoted in local press and on social media
channels and was endorsed by the boroughs involved. TIL received almost 500 responses to this
engagement period, across the four routes.

TfL is now planning to bring engagement with local communities even earlier in the design process,
so communities and stakeholders can be better involved in improving their town centres, high
streets and neighbourhoods.

Thank you again to the Transport Committee for writing to me.

Yours sincerely,

Sadiq Khan
Mayor of London

City Hall, London, SEJ 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000
Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Appendix 2

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Appendix  3

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



City Hall, London, SE1 2AA - london.gov.uk - mayor@london.gov.uk - 020 7983 4000 

Dear Florence

I am writing to inform you that today the Programmes and Investment Committee of the Transport for 
London (TfL) Board has agreed that TfL should pause development work on proposals for a walking 
and cycling bridge between Canary Wharf and Rotherhithe. The committee has concluded that the 
project should revert to the feasibility stage of development where strategic alternatives, such as a 
ferry service, can be reassessed. 

Despite considerable effort to minimise the costs of a bridge at this location, the sheer scale and 
complexity of the engineering solution that would be required means it is currently unaffordable. The 
current midpoint cost estimate for the scheme is £463m, within a range that means final costs could 
be over £600m. This compares to a £350m allocation in the current TfL Business Plan. The bridge is 
therefore unaffordable in the short to medium term, particularly in the context of TfL’s wider financial 
challenges.

Whilst various financial pressures will need to be managed as part of TfL’s business planning process 
this autumn, I believe it is right to make this decision now given the significant costs of keeping the 
project going. To continue development of the scheme through the next phase of surveys, ground 
investigations and engineering design would have cost around £800,000 a month. It would have been 
irresponsible to incur these costs given the low likelihood that it will be possible to take the scheme 
forward in the near term. By making the decision at this point, it has been possible to avoid 
commencing a number of expensive tasks that were due to start imminently. 

TfL has done everything possible to explore options for making this project viable. Considerable effort 
has been put into exploring options for lowering costs through different design options and value 
engineering. This has included looking at different bridge options, including the potential for a lifting, 
swing or bascule type bridge, the latter two of which would have been unprecedented in scale globally 
given the opening requirements for shipping on that part of the river. TfL has also assessed 
possibilities for additional alternative funding sources, which unfortunately are not adequate to 
address the funding gap. As you will appreciate, stubbornly high costs also have an impact on the 
quantified business case for the scheme. 

Florence Eshalomi AM
Chair of the London Assembly Transport 
Committee
London Assembly
City Hall 
London SE1 2AA

Our ref: 

Date: 21st June 2019

Appendix 4

Page 81



Looking forward, it is my hope that we are able to develop a ferry option that is more affordable as a 
short to medium-term way of providing the walking and cycling connectivity that is needed at this 
location. TfL will be assessing all options for a ferry service, including a roll-on/roll-off style service 
using electric or hybrid vessels.  This would be considerably cheaper than building a lifting bridge, and 
the service could be up and running more quickly. The valuable work that has been done to date to 
demonstrate the technical and operational feasibility of the bridge will be taken to a logical end point 
to ensure it can be used in the future should circumstances allow. 

I understand that this is a significant decision and that it will be disappointing for those people – like 
me – who were excited about what a bridge could do to enhance opportunities for walking and cycling 
in a part of London which has been historically poorly served in this regard. This is still an important 
objective and I look forward to continuing to work with the local boroughs, not only in providing a 
new ferry service as soon as we can but also in constructing Cycleway 4, for which we confirmed a 
construction start date this week, progressing new routes between Rotherhithe and Peckham and 
Hackney and the Isle of Dogs and supporting the expansion of Santander Cycles. 

I would be happy to meet members of your committee or come to a committee session to discuss this 
matter in more detail and would suggest that David Rowe from TfL accompany me.

Given likely media and community interest in this matter, I am making a copy of this letter publicly 
available.

Yours sincerely,

Heidi Alexander 
Deputy Mayor for Transport

cc Councillor Peter John OBE, Leader of Southwark Council
cc Mayor John Biggs, Tower Hamlets Council

Page 82



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 10 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegations granted to the Chair by the 

Transport Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the scope of the Committee’s investigation into tram and bus safety. 

 
  

3. Background   
 

3.1 At the Transport Committee’s 25 April 2019 meeting, it agreed: 

 

 “That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s first investigation of 

the 2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram safety.” 

 
 
4. Issues for Consideration 

  

4.1 Following consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the 

scope for the investigation into tram and bus safety and a copy is attached at Appendix 1.   

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



        

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Scope for Tram and Bus Safety Investigation 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority Form 1076 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 84

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Background 

This investigation will look at safety on London transport network, specifically focusing on: 

1. Safety on the Croydon tram network and how learning is being implemented following
the Croydon tram derailment in 2016.

2. Safety on board London buses and collisions involving buses.

This investigation will provide the committee with the opportunity to scrutinise TfL’s 
implementation of learning since the Croydon tram derailment. This session will also 
provide an important opportunity for the committee to follow up on recommendations it 
made in 2017 to TfL and the Mayor in relation to bus safety.  

The role of TfL 

Trams 

Since 2008, TfL has managed London’s only tram network which operates services from 
Croydon to Wimbledon, Beckenham Junction, Elmers End and New Addington. The tram 
network is made up of 28km of track, 34 trams in the fleet and 39 stops. Just over 29 million 
passengers used the service in 2017/18.  

TfL is responsible for setting the specifications for tram frequency and performance and is 
responsible for fares and revenue. TfL is responsible for carrying out maintenance and 
planning and funding improvements and extensions to the network.  

Tram Operations Limited (TOL), a subsidiary of First Group, operates trams day‐to‐day. TOL’s 
contract will expire in 2030.1  

Buses 

TfL manages a bus fleet of around 9,300 vehicles. These vehicles operate across 675 routes. 
More than six million bus journeys are made every weekday. 

TfL’s subsidiary company, London Bus Services Ltd, is responsible for planning routes, 
monitoring service quality and specifying service levels. London Bus Services Ltd is also 
responsible for around 50 bus stations and more than 19,000 bus stops. Most bus services 
are run by private operators who are awarded contracts which are managed by London Bus 
Services Ltd.2  

Mayoral priorities and TfL delivery 

Safety on the transport network 

Safety is a key priority for TfL across the Transport network. The Safety, Sustainability and 
HR panel considers issues relating to safety and sustainability for TfL’s services. TfL publishes 
a quarterly health, safety and environment report. TfL also reports on several safety targets 

1 TfL, London trams 
2 TfL, London buses 

Appendix 1

Page 85



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

on its scorecard under the outcome “London’s transport system will be safe and secure” 
(see figure 1). 

Tram safety 

On 9 November 2016, a tram derailed near the Sandilands tram stop in Croydon and 
tragically seven people lost their lives and 62 people were injured.  

The Rail Collision Investigation Branch (RAIB) conducted an independent investigation into 
the incident and published a report in December 2017 with a further addendum published 
in October 2018.3 Other organisations involved in investigating the derailment included the 
British Transport Police (BTP), the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) and the tram operator, 
Trams Operations Limited which is a subsidiary of FirstGroup. TfL also commissioned an 
independent investigation by SNC Lavalin.4  

The scope of the RAIB investigation included looking at the sequence of events before, 
during and following the derailment. The investigation considered the way the tram was 
being driven, the design and condition of the infrastructure, and the tram’s behaviour 
during the derailment. Finally, the investigation also looked at any previous over‐speeding 
incidents at Sandilands and any underlying management factors.  

Since the incident and conclusion of the investigations, TfL has worked to introduce a range 
of safety measures, including: 

 Adding additional speed restrictions and signage near Sandilands and at three other
locations on the network.

 Reducing the maximum speed trams on the London tram network can travel at – from
80kph to 70kph.

 Fitting of an in‐cab driver protection device to all trams to protect against driver fatigue
and distraction.

 Reviewing procedures for the emergency evacuation of trams.5

3 Note that the RAIB’s investigation is independent of any investigation by the tramway industry, the BTP of 
the ORR.  
4 TfL, Croydon tram derailment. 
5 TfL, Croydon tram derailment.  

Page 86



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Figure 1: Section of the TfL scorecard focusing on safety outcomes.  

Bus safety 

The Mayor’s Vision Zero Action Plan recognises that buses and coaches are 
disproportionately involved in road traffic collisions given their share of traffic. Over the 
past decade, the number of people killed or seriously injured from a collision involving a bus 
or coach has decreased by 55 per cent. Despite this, between 2014 and 2016 36 people 
were killed and 480 people were seriously injured in collisions involving buses and coaches.6  

6 Mayor of London, Vision Zero Action Plan, July 2018 

Page 87



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Figure 2: graphs showing collisions resulting in death or serious injury for pedestrians and 
cyclists 2014‐16 

The Mayor’s Transport Strategy makes a number of commitments around bus safety, many 
of which are expanded upon within the Vision Zero Action Plan (see appendices 1 and 2). A 
key policy in the MTS relates to the implementation of Vision Zero in London: 

Policy 3: The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, and working with stakeholders, 
will adopt Vision Zero for road danger in London. The Mayor’s aim is for no one to be killed in 
or by a London bus by 2030, and for all deaths and serious injuries from road collisions to be 

eliminated from London’s streets by 2041.  

Page 88



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Figure 3: summary of the key road safety targets set out in the Vision Zero Action Plan7 

More recent bus safety data shows that injuries on board and involving buses continues to 
be a problem. There has been some progress with reducing injuries on buses – there were 
1,098 injuries in Q3 of 2018/19, which was a fourteen per cent improvement compared to 
the same quarter last. The top four causes of injury were slips, trips and falls; struck 
by/against object; trapped fingers/limbs; and collisions. There has been a concerning rise in 
the number of people killed or seriously injured on/by buses. In Q3 2018/19, the number of 
people killed or seriously injured, reported by, or to, the police rose by 10 per cent 
compared to the same quarter last year. 8 

7 Mayor of London, Vision Zero Action Plan, July 2018 
8 TfL, Customer service and operational performance report, quarter 3 (16 September 2018 – 8 December 
2018) 

Page 89



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Figure 4: customer injuries and people killed or seriously injured by buses9 

9 TfL, Customer service and operational performance report, quarter 3 (16 September 2018 – 8 December 
2018) 
*note that for the KSI annual totals, figures from the end of 2016 have been reported using a new system (COPA).
The dotted line in the graph (2013-16) shows back-estimated figures following analysis undertake with the 
Transport Research Laboratory to indicate how incidents would have been reported under this system.  

Page 90



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

TfL launched its bus safety programme in 2016. This programme now has ten main 
activities: 

1. Carry out in‐depth bus collision data analysis

2. Promote a culture of transparency and publish data wherever possible

3. Improve safety monitoring and assurance processes among operators, and increase
emphasis on safety in contract and performance management

4. Improve bus vehicle design and develop the first Bus safety Standard.

5. Launch the Sarah Hope Line for victims.

6. Develop a new bus driver training course.

7. Reduce passenger injuries due to slips, trips and falls.

8. Investigate and manage fatigue risk among bus drivers.

9. Launch the Bus Safety Innovation Fund

10. Work in partnership, including with the MPS and the national Confidential Incident
Reporting Analysis System for Transport (CIRAS)10

The bus safety standard 

TfL is working with bus operators and manufactures to deliver a bus‐safety standard. This 
involves: 

 Mandating the fitting of speed‐limiting technology to all buses in TfL’s fleet,
starting with new buses entering the fleet from 2018.

 Trialling technologies such as Autonomous Emergency Braking.

 Requiring the design in new bus interiors to reduce the frequency and impact of
passenger slips, trips and falls.

 Improving direct and indirect vision for drivers.

 Redesigning the front of buses to reduce the impact of collisions.

 Investigating the use of features to alert pedestrians and road users to the
presence of buses.11

10 Mayor of London, Vision Zero Action Plan, July 2018 
11 Mayor of London, Vision Zero Action Plan, July 2018 

Page 91



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Figure 5: diagram outlining the key changes being made to London’s buses as set out in 
the Vision Zero Action Plan12 

Previous work of the London Assembly 

Tram safety 

The committee has not done any recent work looking at London’s tram network or tram 
safety.  

Bus safety 

In July 2017, the Transport Committee published its report on bus safety, ‘Driven to 
distraction – tackling safety on London’s buses’. The investigation considered recent trends 
in road traffic collisions involving buses and incidents on board buses. The Committee 
received a large number of written submissions and held meetings with TfL, road safety 
experts, bus drivers and operators.  

TfL accepted several of the recommendations set out in the report. For example, the 
committee recommended that TfL should introduce a direct link between senior staff bonus 
payments and bus safety performance. TfL responded that senior staff bonuses were linked 

12 Mayor of London, Vision Zero Action Plan, July 2018 

Page 92



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

to its new scorecard which includes a target for reduction in Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) 
casualties. 

Since the publication of the report, TfL has updated the committee on its progress 
implementing the recommendations. Appendix three outlines the recommendations from 
the committee’s 2017 report and the progress TfL has made against these 
recommendations to date.   

The investigation 

Proposed terms of reference 

The terms of reference have not yet been agreed with members, but the following is 
suggested: 

1. To challenge TfL on the progress it has made on bus safety since the committee’s report
in 2017.

2. To investigate the progress TfL has made on tram safety following the Croydon tram
overturning in 2016.

3. To identify wider learning for safety across the transport network and developments in
safety technology

Key questions for the investigation 

Below are some suggested questions for this investigation.  

Tram safety  

 What have been the key challenges in implementing the recommendations from the

Croydon tram derailment investigation?

 What engagement has TfL undertaken with tram drivers following the introduction of
new technology such as the driver detection device?

 How is TfL continuing to share information with the community and tram users following
the Croydon tram derailment?

 How is Tram Operations Limited (TOL) working with drivers to manage risks around
fatigue?

 What feedback have you had on your new customer complaints process?

 UK trams was undertaking research to explore what appropriate automatic responses
would be if a low level of driver attentiveness is detected. What progress has been made
on this?

 How has TfL shared learning from the Croydon tram derailment with other tram
providers in the UK?

Bus safety  

Page 93



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

 What progress has been made on the bus safety standard?

 What plans are there to retrofit buses in line with the bus safety standard?

 When TfL will publish the independent report on bus driver fatigue?

 What progress has been made in providing toilet facilities for bus drivers?

 What wider learning could be taken from how collisions are investigated on other parts
of the Transport network?

 In what ways is Vision Zero a different approach to road safety? How is this informing
TfL’s work on bus safety?

Methodology 

Desk research 

Desk research will include  

 Reviewing a range of documents including: The Mayor’s Transport Strategy; the Vision
Zero Action Plan; TfL’s scorecard; TfL’s board papers

 Data analysis of recent collision data for incidents on and/or involving buses

 Analysis of international best practice

Committee meetings 

Members have agreed to use the meeting on 15 May to discuss bus and tram safety. It is 
proposed that this meeting is split into two panels. 

Tram safety panel 

Guests for this panel could include: 

 Mark Davis/Jonathan Fox, TfL

 Mark Phillips, Chief Executive of the Rail and Safety Standards Board

 Tram Operations Limited

 British Transport Police (BTP)

Bus safety panel 

Guests for this panel could include: 

 Claire Mann, Director of Bus Operations, TfL

 Stuart Reid, TfL (Vision Zero)

 A bus operator

 Representatives from walking and cycling groups

 A road safety charity

Page 94



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Additional ideas 

 Call for evidence

 Round table with tram drivers

 Update briefing from TfL

 Site visit – Members could visit a bus depot to look at new safety features/programmes

 Site visit – Members could visit a tram depot

Suggested output 

Tram safety: A short letter or report to the Mayor and TfL addressing any issues arising from 
the meeting.  

Bus safety: a short update output, which highlights the recommendations the committee 
made in 2017, which of these TfL implemented, and where the committee thinks further 
progress is needed from TfL. This would be aimed primarily at TfL and transport safety 
stakeholders.  

Webpage: The committee could also have an investigation page on ‘Transport safety’ which 
it keeps updated with recent meetings, outputs and correspondence on transport safety.  

Communications strategy 

Area  Activity  

Media  Operational Notes for meetings 

Press release and quote for output 

Social Media/Video/Graphics  3‐5 posts ‐ over two days  

Some graphics and web 

Static image for video and social 

Public Affairs  Send report to key stakeholders to keep 
them informed 

Offer to meet to discuss  

Page 95



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Appendix 1: Policies and proposals relating to bus and tram safety in the Mayor’s 
Transport Strategy  

Policy 3  The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, and working with 
stakeholders, will adopt Vision Zero for road danger in London. The 
Mayor’s aim is for no one to be killed in or by a London bus by 2030, 
and for all deaths and serious injuries from road collisions to be 
eliminated from London’s streets by 2041. 

Proposal 10  The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, will collaboratively set out a 
programme to achieve the Vision Zero aim of reducing the number of 
people killed or seriously injured on London’s streets to zero 

Policy 13  The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, and working with 
stakeholders, will seek to make the public transport network easier 
and more pleasant to use, enabling customers to enjoy comfortable, 
confident, safe and secure, informed and stress‐free travel. 

Proposal 52  The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, and working with other 
transport operators, will improve customer service across the 
transport system with a focus on: a) Improved staff training, including 
the training of bus drivers. 

Proposal 54  The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, will improve bus 
accessibility by: a) Continuing to provide improved accessibility training 
to all bus drivers and working with operators to ensure they are 
meeting their requirements for the level of service that their drivers 
provide.  
b) Reviewing existing bus design, including opportunities for increasing
wheelchair space and internal layout to ease movement and improve 
safety.  
c) Ensuring that new buses provide better accessibility for all users,
including more on‐board space for wheelchair users, improved 
boarding ramps, induction loops and consistent signage and messages 
regarding priority seating.  
d) Continuing to upgrade existing bus stops, including hail and ride
route sections, so that they meet the wheelchair accessible standard, 
and ensuring that all new and amended bus stops will be wheelchair 
accessible as a minimum.  
e) Delivering a higher level of bus stop accessibility at key locations,
such as major transport interchanges and key health and education 
hubs 

Proposal 70  The Mayor, through TfL, will upgrade the tram system to improve its 
reliability and to increase its capacity by 85 per cent to/from Croydon 
by 2030. 

Page 96



Transport Committee  Scoping paper for Members  

Tram and bus safety 

Appendix 2: Actions relating to bus safety in the Vision Zero Action Plan 

Action 5  Introduce a world‐leading Bus Safety Standard for the city’s entire bus 
fleet, incorporated into all new London buses and bus operator 
contracts from the end of 2018. 

Action 12  Enhance and drive excellence in collision investigation and learning by: 
a. The MPS providing enhanced scene management and evidence
gathering training and equipment to MPS Roads and Transport Policing 
Command first responders  
b. TfL working with the police and other delivery partners such as bus
operators, to embed a new framework for improved, systematic 
information sharing and post‐collision learning 

Action 13   TfL, the police and other partners will work to improve justice and care 
for the victims of traffic collisions by:  
a. Publishing through TfL media channels the criminal justice outcomes
of fatal and life‐changing or life‐threatening collisions that proceed to 
prosecution  
b. Promoting the use of driving ban by magistrates for repeat offenders
and those accumulating 12 penalty points on their license  
c. Signposting victims of collisions to the most appropriate restorative
justice and post‐collision support services  
d. Exploring options for extending the Victims’ Commissioner for
London’s brief to include victims of road crimes, and victims of road 
collisions where no crime has been charged 

Action 14  TfL, boroughs and the police will monitor and record a range of 
indicators to measure the impact of London’s road danger reduction 
programme, and publish the results annually on the TfL website. 

Action 15  TfL will work with its key partners, including vehicle manufacturers and 
the Government, to capitalise on opportunities for innovation, 
including the use of data and new and emerging vehicle technology. 

Action 16  TfL will establish a stakeholder advisory panel to oversee 
implementation of this plan. 

Page 97



Transport Committee  Project Initiation Meeting  

Bus and tram safety 

Appendix three: Recommendations from the committee’s 2017 bus safety report and responses from TfL 

Recommendation  Progress  Summary – original response to committee  Subsequent updates from TfL (March 2018) 

1  TfL should set safety targets 
for bus operators and 
integrate these into Quality 
Incentive Contracts (QICs). 

TfL has developed two new measures for 
operators to improve safety: Bus Operator Safety 
Performance Index (SPI) and Bus Operator Health, 
Safety and Environment Assessment Tool. 

However, TfL will not put safety incentives in QICs 
as it believes this would encourage under‐
reporting of incidents by operators. 

The draft MTS also proposes new bus safety 
targets for TfL, as set out above. 

TfL reiterated the point that “putting financial 
incentives into contracts can encourage under‐
reporting of incidents” 

TfL outlined that the SPI and Safety Maturity 
Measure provides them with the opportunity to 
include a safety specific metric in the route 
tender evaluation process.  

2  TfL should introduce a direct 
link between senior staff 
bonus payments and bus 
safety performance. 

TfL has developed a new scorecard to determine 
senior staff bonuses, which includes a target for 
reduction in Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) 
casualties. 

‐ 

3  TfL should improve bus 
collision data by 
amalgamating STATS19 and 
IRIS datasets and more 
accurate reporting of long‐
term trends.  

STATS19 and IRIS will not be amalgamated but TfL 
is seeking to introduce more consistency, 
including through the roll‐out of the Metropolitan 
Police Service’s new Case Overview and 
Preparation Application (COPA) system, with 
handheld devices for offices to record details of 
incidents.  

TfL has also reviewed using hospital episode data, 
but found that this would depend on further work 
by the Department for Transport and the NHS. 

‐ 

P
age 98



Transport Committee  Project Initiation Meeting  

Bus and tram safety 

TfL has commissioned new in‐depth research into 
bus incidents to identify trends and inform the 
bus safety programme.   

4  TfL should commission an 
independent investigation 
into bus drivers’ working 
conditions, with a focus on 
the causes of fatigue.  

TfL will not commission a review on this topic. 

TfL maintains that its new safety measures will 
encourage operators to address any risks. 

TfL will also seek to share existing evidence on 
combating fatigue with bus operators.  

“To better understand the extent and impact of 
driver fatigue, we will be commissioning some 
independent research which will involve London’s 
bus drivers. In addition, we are already working 
with two operators to trail fatigue detection 
systems and we will ensure that lessons learnt 
from the investigations into the Croydon tram 
tragedy are shared and applied across TfL” 

5  TfL should work with 
operators to reduce the 
number of distractions bus 
drivers face, covering vehicle 
maintenance, toilet 
provision, radio contact, and 
bus lane and bus stop 

infrastructure.13 

TfL will continue to work with operators to ensure 
drivers have the optimum environment for the 
delivery of a safe service. 

TfL has committed to ensuring that every bus 
route has a toilet by autumn 2017, and that every 
bus route has a toilet open all hours by the end of 
2018. 

6  TfL should take responsibility 
for bus driver safety training, 
as it has for customer service 
training. 

TfL will not take responsibility for safety training. 

TfL is working with operators to develop safety 
training materials for bus drivers and driving 
instructors. 

“We are taking direct responsibility for defining, 
procuring and managing the bus driver safety 
course as we did with Hello London. Hello London 
was delivered to bus drivers by an independent 
training company on private premises and the 
new bus driver safety course will be delivered by 

13 David Kurten AM of UKIP noted an objection to this recommendation. 

P
age 99



Transport Committee  Project Initiation Meeting  

Bus and tram safety 

bus operator training staff on bus company 
premise. Our input into both courses is the 
same.” 

An independent provider will develop the safety 
training programme. 

“Embedding the process within the bus operators’ 
own training systems will encourage operators to 
take ownership of the safety messages delivered 
through the course, and the impact on their 
drivers’ behaviour.” 

TfL has also committed to developing a proposal 
to provide security training for bus drivers.  

7  TfL should commit to a 
publication date for the Bus 
Safety Standard (BSS) and 
undertake a cost/benefit 
analysis for retrofitting the 
BSS to the entire bus fleet. 

TfL will publish a roadmap for the BSS in winter 
2017 and it will be written into the London Bus 
vehicle specification by the end of 2018. 

TfL has commissioned a series of work packages 
to test the feasibility and benefits of measures in 
the BSS. There will be a cost/benefit analysis to 
determine whether each measure is suitable for 
retrofit. 

8  TfL should conduct a review 
of bus maintenance practices 
and work to understand the 
scale of the bus engineer 
shortage. 

TfL will not conduct a specific review on these 
issues. 

There are regular Bus Operator Engineering 
Forums where maintenance issues are discussed. 

P
age 100



Transport Committee  Project Initiation Meeting  

Bus and tram safety 

9  TfL should clarify that the 
Confidential Incident 
Reporting and Analysis 
Service (CIRAS) can be used 
as a first‐line reporting tool, 
and communicate 
information about CIRAS to 
all drivers.  

TfL disagrees that CIRAS should be used as a first‐
line reporting tool. 

However, TfL will review whether promotion of 
CIRAS has been embedded in driver training and 
induction through its Safety Maturity measure. 

CIRAS’ states in its mission statement that “we 
are not a whistle blowing service” 

“CIRAS is always available as an alternative 
reporting route if needed.” 

“Our bus operators do also provide a confidential 
reporting system internally which includes the 
ability to report Health and Safety concerns”.  

10  TfL should carry out a review 
of how bus incidents are 
investigated in London, 
including consideration of 
making investigations 
independent, ensuring 
consistency and distributing 
good practice. 

TfL agrees that incident investigations should be 
conducted by an independent body, as they are in 
other transport sectors. 

TfL argues that it does take steps to ensure 
consistency and good practice, and is keeping 
these steps under review. 

11  TfL should publish an update 
on the Bus Safety Standard in 
January 2018.  

TfL will publish an update in January 2018.

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 102



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London’s Transport Now and in the 
Future  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 July 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on London’s transport now and in the future. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests on 

London’s transport now and in the future and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final output for the investigation on London’s transport now 

and in the future.  

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee is investigating London’s transport now and in the future. In this 

investigation, the Committee will look at how London’s transport system will need to adapt to future 

constraints and help address challenges facing the capital. The Committee will consider how people’s 

experiences of moving around the capital could be improved. The Committee will also look at which 

future transport projects in the capital should be prioritised and how these could be delivered and 

paid for.  

 

 

4.  Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 The following guests have been invited to today’s meeting: 

 Representatives from Transport for London 

 Other guests to be confirmed   

  

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



        

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Grace Pollard, Policy Advisor 

Telephone: 020 7983 6597 

E-mail: grace.pollard@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 104

mailto:grace.pollard@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London TravelWatch Progress Report 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 10 July 2019 

 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1  This report updates the Transport Committee about action taken by London TravelWatch (LTW) to 

respond to the concerns and comments made by the Committee since the LTW draft budget and 

Business Plan was last considered on 18 November 2018. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
(a) That the Committee notes the action taken so far by London TravelWatch to respond 

to the Committee’s comments on its previous draft Business Plan, notes the current 

work programme and endorses the direction of travel (as set out at Appendix 1); 

 

(b) That consequent on this, the grant funding for London TravelWatch for the second 

half of this financial year be confirmed and released; 

 

(c) That, following further consultation over the summer, the Committee receives an 

updated and refocused Business Plan for the period 2020 to 2024 in the autumn, to 

be considered as part of the 2020/21 budget process; and   

 

(d) That subsequent to this, the Memorandum of Understanding between the Greater 

London Authority and London TravelWatch is reviewed and updated to ensure that 

current expectations are fully covered. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 

London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. This is the first update 

following the appointment of a new Chief Executive of LTW, Joanna Simons. 

 

3.2 In November 2018, the Transport Committee rejected LTW’s business plan, and in February 2019, 

the then Chair of the Committee, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, signed off the 

allocation of 6 months’ funding to LTW, covering the first two quarters of the 2019/20 financial 

year.  

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



        

 

 4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The progress report from LTW for the Committee’s consideration is attached at Appendix 1.  

4.2 The following guests have been invited to answer questions from the Committee on the update 

report: 

 Arthur Leathley, Chair, LTW; and 

 Joanna Simons, Chief Executive, LTW. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 London TravelWatch is a separate legal entity which is funded by the London Assembly in 

accordance with Schedule 19 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended). London TravelWatch funding, 

therefore, forms part of the Assembly Secretariat budget and, in it 2019-20 budget, London 

TravelWatch has been allocated £1.036m. The first six months’ funding was released by the 

Committee under the cover of a delegated decision taken in February 2019. The remaining 

six months’ funding for 2019-20 is held within the Assembly’s budget and can be released at a time 

of the Assembly’s choosing. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – LTW Progress Report, July 2019 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 106

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


          

 

 

Progress report to the London 
Assembly Transport Committee 

 

        

10 July 2019 

 

 

1 Summary 

This report updates the Transport Committee about action taken by London 
TravelWatch to respond to the concerns and comments made by the 
Committee since the London TravelWatch draft budget and Business Plan 
was last considered by Members on 18 November 2018. 

Details of the current work programme are included, together with a process 
for developing a revised business plan and budget bid for 2020/21 which will 
be submitted to the Committee for approval in the autumn. 

 

2 Recommendations 

i) That the Committee notes the action taken so far by London 
TravelWatch to respond to the Committee’s comments on its previous 
draft Business Plan, notes the current work programme and endorses 
the direction of travel; 

ii) That consequent on this, the grant funding for London TravelWatch for 
the second half of this financial year be confirmed and released; 

iii) That, following further consultation over the summer, the Committee 
receives an updated and refocused Business Plan for the period 2020 
to 2024 in the autumn, to be considered as part of the 2020/21 budget 
process; and   

iv) That subsequent to this, the Memorandum of Understanding between 
the Greater London Authority and London TravelWatch is reviewed and 
updated to ensure that current expectations are fully covered  

 

3 Background 
 

The London TravelWatch (LTW) draft business plan and budget bid for 2019/20 
was rejected by the Committee in November last year. 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 107



Following this, authority was delegated to the Chair, in consultation with Party 
Group lead members, to make a recommendation to the Mayor in relation to the 
LTW budget. Funding for the first six months of this financial year was 
subsequently confirmed, with provision for the full amount being retained within 
the overall London Assembly budget. Further release of the budget remains 
subject to the Committee being satisfied with progress. 
 

 
4 Issues for Consideration  

 
Expectations of London TravelWatch 
London TravelWatch was originally set up as the London Transport Users 
Committee, with a brief to represent the voice of transport users in London. Until 
1999 it was one of many such regional committees with similar remits, all of 
which were funded by central government. 
 
Upon the establishment of the Greater London Authority, responsibility for the 
committee passed to the GLA, and the name was later changed to London 
TravelWatch. The remaining regional committees were consolidated into one 
body, which is now operating as Transport Focus. 
 
The relationship between London TravelWatch, the Greater London Authority and 
the Transport Committee is governed by a Memorandum of Understanding (last 
updated in 2014) which sets out clear expectations. It aims to ensure that both 
parties maintain an open and constructive relationship which recognises that 
whilst London TravelWatch is independent from transport operators and 
providers, the organisation needs to work within the strategic framework that the 
Transport Committee sets. 
 
Protocols are set out for communication and joint working and, in ‘searching for 
the maximum benefit’, annual consultation is required on the provisional work 
programme for the following year to: identify opportunities for joint or 
complementary working; inputs to projects being undertaken by the other body; 
and information sharing opportunities or other measures to eliminate duplication. 
 
This Committee has the authority to issue guidance and directions to London 
TravelWatch (s251 GLA Act 1999) and the MOU provides for the business plan 
process to be based on the broad objectives set for London TravelWatch by the 
Transport Committee. 
 
 
The Mayer report  
The London TravelWatch board acknowledged the concerns of the Committee 
and in December 2018 commissioned Anthony Mayer CBE, former GLA Chief 
Executive, to carry to a review of the organisation. This explored whether: 
 

i) The current management and governance structure was appropriate; 
ii) The organisation was well run with good governance and assurance 

processes in place; 

Page 108



iii) The functions carried out meet its statutory obligations and the 
expectations of the London Assembly’s Transport Committee. 

 
Mr Mayer found that, whilst appropriate structures and assurance processes 
were in place, there was a need to refocus the organisation away from past 
tensions towards a more modern, cost-effective approach, targeting resources 
towards the core priorities agreed with the Transport Committee. The business 
plan should be strengthened and produced over a longer period in line with the 
Assembly electoral cycle but updated and reviewed annually.  
 
Action was required by London TravelWatch to improve the relationship with this 
Committee and to update the approach to social media and engagement. In 
doing so, consideration should be given to reviewing the approach, and 
resources, devoted to responding to consultations. This should include agreeing 
a partnership arrangement with Transport Focus in relation to London 
TravelWatch’s rail remit within the London rail travel area, to minimise the 
potential for duplication.  
 
This latter recommendation was also previously made as part of the Committee’s 
review of London TravelWatch in 2010. 
 
Mr Mayer also recommended that the Transport Committee should issue 
strategic direction and guidance for London TravelWatch and that the 
Memorandum of Understanding should be updated to clarify current expectations 
and requirements.  To improve coordination, it was suggested that an officer 
should be identified who could attend London TravelWatch board meetings and 
co-ordinate the annual alignment of the London TravelWatch and Transport 
Committee work programmes.  
 
 
Rebuilding the relationship  
The London TravelWatch board has accepted the recommendations of the Mayer 
report and wishes to improve the relationship with the Committee in order to 
improve the service provided to London’s transport users and to add value to the 
work of both bodies. 
 
Top priority is being given to rebuilding the relationship with, and approach to, the 
Committee. Regular meetings are being established and have started to take 
place at both officer and board level to increase mutual understanding, and for 
the London TravelWatch team to share their current work streams and activity 
with the Assembly’s officers.  
 
The organisation’s need for independence from operating companies had, it 
appears, been taken to mean it should be independent from the London 
Assembly. To address this, the TravelWatch team is being encouraged to get to 
know their opposite numbers and links are being made more broadly, for 
example between the respective communications officers. 
 
More remains to be done and it is recognised that this will take some time for this 
new way of working to become embedded as ‘business as usual’. LTW is grateful 

Page 109



for the support being given from staff and members of the Assembly during this 
transitional period. Over the medium term it is hoped that improved joint working 
will build trust, increase effectiveness and identify opportunities for London 
TravelWatch to contribute more fully to the Transport Committee’s work 
programme. 
 
 
Strategic collaboration with Transport Focus  
As indicated above, London TravelWatch and Transport Focus both exist to 
represent the voice of the transport user, to champion their cause when things go 
wrong and to get services improved, albeit with different (although overlapping) 
geographies and slightly different remits. 

 
Following informal discussion with the lead Members of this Committee, the 
Board of London TravelWatch has commenced discussions with Transport Focus 
with the goal of agreeing a formal, strategic partnership where the two 
organisations will work more closely together to ensure that, both jointly and 
individually they are making more of difference for transport users and deliver 
better value for money for sponsors and funders.  

 
How will a new partnership and better joint working be forged? 
Both London TravelWatch and Transport Focus would retain their existing 
boards, governance and reporting arrangements to funders (the GLA and DfT 
respectively) but, in terms of day to day internal operations, staff will work 
together to make best use of the overall resources. There would be no change to 
current staff terms and conditions of employment. 
 
It is proposed that a joint chief executive arrangement will be put in place – the 
Transport Focus chief executive will take on this role initially, and that the London 
TravelWatch team will report in beneath this. A new role will be created beneath 
this with specific responsibility for liaison and co-ordination with Assembly 
colleagues. Existing governance and reporting arrangements with and to the 
Assembly would remain the same and would be an explicit requirement for the 
new joint Chief Executive role. 
 
Where appropriate, teams made up of staff from both organisations will work on 
common transport user issues and plans will be shared so there can be can 
better co-ordination of user representation activities. This shared service 
approach should reduce the costs of the most senior leadership, reduce 
duplication and streamline the back office further, allowing a greater focus on 
front line issues.  

 
The intention is to amplify impact in areas of common interest, whilst allowing 
more focus to be given to specific differences of the London travel area and the 
wider multi modal responsibilities of the London TravelWatch team.  
 
Both parties recognise that there may be occasions where the geographic and 
policy interests of both organisations may differ and mechanisms will be built into 
any agreement to ensure that both parties retain the right to publish or comment 
on issues in a way that reflects the respective statutory and other duties of the 

Page 110



organisations – however, it is hoped that joint work and communications will be 
possible on many issues of joint interest. 

 
How will this benefit transport users? 
Both organisations will become more effective, able to make more of a difference 
as knowledge, information, skills and resources are pooled – the ‘marriage value’ 
of the new relationship is considerable. There will be more joined up 
representation on issues affecting transport users across London and South East 
which will benefit all users and joined up representation will simply look, feel and 
sound more  effective. 

 
How will this benefit sponsors and funders? 
There will be early visible evidence of making more of a difference for transport 
users, with over time, more resource released for front line activities but no major 
changes to underlying sponsorship, financial, legal or other arrangements are 
envisaged. Both Boards will benefit from streamlined, joined up support and 
governance services plus a wider ranging look at issues affecting them.  
 
Shared service arrangements between different organisations have become 
common place in the public sector over the last few years and there is a wealth of 
experience available to draw on to ensure that respective interests are protected, 
and benefits maximized. 

 
What next? 
This proposal is at an early stage and further discussion and consultation is 
required prior to any formal agreement between the two boards but it important 
that the Transport Committee gives indicative support to the approach prior to 
any more substantive developments. 
 

 
 
5 The current work programme 

Alongside action to respond to the issues raised by the Transport Committee, the 
day to day work of the organisation has of course continued. Beyond this the 
team are working hard to deliver benefits in the three main areas of passenger 
safety, accessibility and improvements to the customer experience.  Key activity 
is as follows: 

 

      Passenger safety issues  

Bus Passenger Safety research 
This study by Loughborough University Design School has just been completed 
and was commissioned (with funding from the Road Safety Trust) to 
independently review and explore the causes of injuries to bus passengers on the 
London bus network that take place on buses, as opposed to third party 
collisions.  
 

Page 111



This work was prompted by the extent of incidents that occur that are not serious 
enough to be reported to the police (circa 6,000 verses 1500 reportable ones in 
2015) and has taken a three stage approach to look at information over a five 
year period to derive a better understanding of the nature and circumstances of 
injuries and how they can be prevented and/or mitigated. Elderly women are 
disproportionately represented amongst the injured group.  
 
As well as commissioning this work, London TravelWatch acted in a key role 
liaising between the operators and researcher to gain access to incident reports, 
CCTV packages and the injured parties. This was a substantial challenge due to 
confidentiality, data protection and other legal issues. 
 
Quantitative and qualitative methods have been used including reviews of CCTV 
footage and semi structured interviews with passengers who have been injured. 
The final phase of the study involved identifying potential solutions to the problem 
of passenger injury and presenting these to stakeholders to identify priorities and 
to assess the feasibility of their implementation. 
 
It was evident from the study that problems and solutions are not confined to one 
area but require a systems approach to achieving a reduction in bus passenger 
injuries. The next steps involve further dissemination and discussion with TfL and 
bus operators about which measures could be taken forward, in order to reduce 
the number of injuries in the future. 
 
 
Improving passenger safety and evacuation procedures on ‘stranded’ trains 
London TravelWatch has been closely involved in this area following the 
incidents at Peckham Rye and Lewisham, and in particular succeeded in 
influencing the outcome of the Lewisham report. Subsequent work with Network 
rail has helped to shift the approach to this from one of staff seeing these issues 
as technical problems to be resolved about trains to one that puts the passenger 
perspective at the heart of things with an onus on the people issues and 
managing a safe exit for passengers where necessary. 
 

Accessibility 

Highways obstructions 
London TravelWatch has a particular remit to represent disabled users of 
London’s transport networks. For many years, we have been working to clear 
unlawful obstructions from the pavements as we know from disability groups that 
clear pavements are really important. Local authorities, including TfL, have a 
legal duty to keep their streets clear of unlawful obstructions, and the powers to 
do this. 

Last year this zero-tolerance approach was specifically included in the Mayor’s 
Transport Strategy and last month the City of London adopted a similar proposal 
to clear their pavements of ‘A’ boards etc. We will continue to lobby until all 
London boroughs adopt and enforce similar proposals. 

 

Page 112



Interchange Matters 
The next event in our successful ‘Interchange Matters’ seminar series will take 
place at City Hall, in London’s Living Room, on Wednesday 24 July on the theme 
of accessibility. Members of the Transport Committee have been invited and 
would be very welcome if able to attend. 
 
The passenger experience 

Closure of ticket offices  
In September 2018, LTW held a consultation on London Overground’s proposals 
to close ticket offices at stations across much of the Overground Network, 
receiving over 6,500 responses from a range of organisations and individuals. 
Following the consultation, we formally objected to the closure of 24 ticket offices. 
 
The Mayor announced on 18 April 2019 that 47 of the 51 ticket offices previously 
proposed for closure will be retained following our pressure. We also secured 
significant investment in ticketing and customer services as a result of our 
activity. Issues remain to be resolved at White Hart Lane and West Hampstead 
and we are currently meeting the operator and local groups to find an appropriate 
way forward. 
 
Introduction of the Rail Ombudsman  
Following the introduction of the new scheme in November, the LTW team has 
been working hard to ensure that rail passengers are informed as soon as 
possible in the complaints process about the existence of the Ombudsman. The 
volume of enquiries from passengers seeking help and signposting is gradually 
reducing, enabling the focus to move towards ensuring that the new scheme 
produces high quality data that can be used to help improve services. 

Travel Demand Management Forum 
We have brokered much more engagement from Network Rail in the travel 
demand management process, working with TfL. They now actively take part in 
the forum and have just moved their control staff into Palestra 24/7 alongside 
Underground controllers.  
 
This is having great passenger benefits and we are confident will be built on in 
the future. The continuing operation of this group plays a vital role in coordinating 
all of the rail operators whose services terminate in London with TfL.  
 
 

6 Reshaping the Business Plan for 2020 onwards 

The London TravelWatch Board has recently been strengthened by a number of 
new appointments and work is currently underway with the new board to review 
the existing strategy and to reshape the Business Plan. Given the limited 
resources available, it will be important to ensure that the proposed priorities 
align with the Committee’s requirements and consultation will take place with 
colleagues at the Assembly over the summer in line with the communications 
protocol prior to resubmission.  
 

Page 113



This work has involved a detailed review of the organisation’s finances. This 
activity is on-going, and there are regular officer-level discussions with the 
Assembly’s Secretariat and our accountant. It appears that there are some cost 
pressures for LTW that are not fully met from the existing resources. This needs 
further investigation, however, as this review work is at an early stage. This work 
will be completed in time for the submission of robust budget proposals to the 
Assembly in the autumn.    
 

 

7 Conclusion 

London TravelWatch recognises the need to respond effectively to the concerns 
of the Transport Committee. We hope that this report demonstrates that the 
Board and staff team are committed to strengthening the relationship and 
improving outcomes for London’s transport users.  

 

Joanna Simons CBE 
Interim Chief Executive  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 10 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2019/20 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the first such report for this Assembly year. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 Tram and bus safety;  

 London’s transport now and in the future; and  

 Accessibility of London’s transport network. 

4.2 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2019/20. 

4.3 The Committee’s remaining work programme will be developed over the year. The exact scope and 

timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due course and more 

detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee seeks to maintain 

flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments when scheduling its 

work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue beyond each Assembly 

year.  

 

Tram and bus safety 

4.4 The Committee is investigating tram and bus safety in London. The Committee’s first meeting on the 

issue was on 12 June 2019. On 10 July 2019, the Committee visited a tram depot, where safety 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9



        

technology, such as the Guardian device, was demonstrated. The Committee also received a briefing 

on hazard braking and an opportunity to try safety training tram simulators.  

 

London’s transport now and in the future 

4.5 Today’s meeting will mark the start of the committee’s investigation into London’s transport now 

and in the future. This investigation will look at the factors that will impact London’s transport, and 

explore what Londoners want to see from the transport network in the future. More detail on this 

investigation in an item below.  

 

Accessibility of London’s transport network 

4.6 The Committee will conduct an investigation into accessibility on the transport network in London, 

exploring visible and invisible disabilities. This investigation will start in October 2019. More 

information will be available following scoping of this investigation over the next few months.  

 

Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf bridge 

4.7 On 21 June 2019, the Deputy Mayor for Transport, Heidi Alexander, wrote to the Chair of the 

Committee to inform her that TfL had “paused” development work on the proposed bridge over the 

Thames between Rotherhithe and Canary Wharf. The Committee will continue to monitor the 

implications of this announcement. 

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.8 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

London TravelWatch 
4.9 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 

London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. Following the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive of LTW, officers will be working to establish a work 
programme with LTW for the coming year.  
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.10 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2019/20 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date, with the remainder to be confirmed: 

 Wednesday, 10 July 2019, 10.00am - London’s transport now and in the future 

 Wednesday 11 September 2019, 10.00am - London’s transport now and in the future 

 Wednesday 9 October 2019, 10.00am - Accessibility of London’s transport network 

 Tuesday 12 November 2019, 10.00am   

 Tuesday 17 December 2019, 10.00am 

 Wednesday 8 January 2020, 10.00am 

 Tuesday 4 February 2020, 10.00am 

 Thursday 12 March 2020, 10.00am – Meeting with the Transport Commissioner 

 

 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Taxi and private hire Response from Mayor and TfL due by 17 June 2019 

Crossrail Response from Mayor and TfL due by 23 June 2019 

Page 116



        

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7084 2850 

Email: Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 117

mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	03a Minutes - Appendix 1 - Tram and Bus Safety - Panel 1
	03b Minutes - Appendix 2 - Tram and Bus Safety - Panel 2

	5 Summary List of Actions
	05a ESHALOMI Florence Healthy Streets MOL response
	05b Letter from SoS to Chair re Delay Pay 15 on SE
	05c TfL Listed Securities
	05d Heidi crossing letter

	6 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	06a Bus and tram safety scoping paper for Group Leads

	7 London's Transport Now and in the Future
	8 London TravelWatch Progress Report
	XXa - ltw progress final july 2019_

	9 Transport Committee Work Programme

